Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies

Cambridge Case Study Series

SCENARIO APPLICATIONS: STRESS TESTING COMPANIES IN THE ENERGY VALUE CHAIN

Centre for **Risk Studies**





Developing risk professionals

Acknowledgements

Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies gratefully acknowledges the Institute for Risk Management for supporting the research efforts summarised in this report. The Centre is grateful for the expertise provided by our research team, collaborators, and subject matter specialists. Any misinterpretation in use of the advice provided is entirely the responsibility of the Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies.

Paper Citation:

Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies, 2019. Scenario Applications: Stress Testing Companies in the Energy Value Chain. Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies at the University of Cambridge Judge Business School in collaboration with the Institute of Risk Management.

or

Ralph, D; Tuveson, M; Copic, J; Deng, K., Carpenter, O., Coburn, A. 2019. Scenario Applications: Stress Testing Companies in the Energy Value Chain. Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies at the University of Cambridge Judge Business School in collaboration with the Institute of Risk Management.

Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies Research Team

Dr Michelle Tuveson, Chairman & Executive Director Professor Daniel Ralph, Academic Director Dr Andrew Coburn, Chief Scientist Simon Ruffle, Director of Research and Innovation Jennifer Copic, Project Manager and Liability Research Lead Dr Andy Skelton, Lead Modeller Ken Deng, Lead Financial Risk Research Oliver Carpenter, Lead Environmental Risk Research Dr Jennifer Daffron, Lead Technology Risk Research Tamara Evan, Lead Geopolitical Risk Research James Bourdeau, Geopolitical Risk Research Phil Cameron, Cyber Risk Research Timothy Douglas, Risk Modeller Timothy Summers, Senior Data Scientist William Turner, Data Scientist Dr Paul Burgess, Senior Advisor for Risk Management Jayne Tooke, Communications Assistant

Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies

University of Cambridge Judge Business School Trumpington Street Cambridge CB2 1AG United Kingdom <u>enquiries.risk@jbs.cam.ac.uk</u> Website and Research Platform <u>www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/faculty-research/centres/risk</u>

Institute of Risk Management

Sackville House 143 - 149 Fenchurch Street London EC3M 6BN United Kingdom Website www.theirm.org

Contents

About the Institute of Risk Management (IRM)	
Forward from IRM	5
Executive Summary	6
Section 1: Introduction	8
Companies within the Energy Value Chain	9
Section 2: The Business Environment of Energy Value Chain Companies	
A Market View	
State of Geopolitics	
Currency Exchange Rates	
Cyber Risks	
Climate Change	
Self-Reported Top Enterprise Risks by Companies in the Energy Value Chain	15
Section 3: Exploration of Risks through Scenarios.	
Introduction to Scenario Stress Tests	
Scenario Stress Tests to Assess Risk Exposure and the Value of Mitigations	
Section 4: Selected Scenarios for the Energy Value Chain	
Overview and Selection of Scenarios	
Scenario #1: Geopolitical Crisis: Middle East Conflict	23
Scenario #2: Natural Catastrophe: Hurricane in the Gulf of Mexico.	
Scenario #3: Liability Risk: Litigation Against Carbon Emissions	
Section 5: Conclusions	40
Summary of Qualitative Findings for Selected Scenarios.	40
Reflections and Future Vision	
Bibliography	
Appendix A: Transition to a Low-Carbon Economy	51
Appendix B: Science in Scenarios – Geopolitical: Middle East Conflict	

The views contained in this report are entirely those of the research team of the Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies, and do not imply any endorsement of these views by the organisations supporting the research, or our consultants and collaborators. The results of the Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies research presented in this report are for information purposes only. This report is not intended to provide a sufficient basis on which to make an investment decision. The Centre is not liable for any loss or damage arising from its use. Any commercial use will require a license agreement with the Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies.

Copyright © 2019 by Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies.

2

About the Institute of Risk Management (IRM)

The IRM is the leading professional body for Enterprise Risk Management (ERM). We drive excellence in managing risk to ensure organisations are ready for the opportunities and threats of the future. We do this by providing internationally recognised qualifications and training, publishing research and guidance and setting professional standards.

For over 30 years our qualifications have been the global choice of qualifications for risk professionals and their employers. We are an independent, not for profit body, with members working in all industries, in all risk disciplines and in all sectors around the world.

Foreword from IRM

We are delighted to continue our working partnership with the Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies which has produced this valuable guidance for the energy sector.

Firms throughout the energy value chain need innovative tools, like the scenario analysis techniques outlined in this report, in order to understand and manage risk and opportunity in a volatile world. As the paper says, the extreme risks that the sector faces may not be predictable in the conventional way, but they are foreseeable. The thinking in this guidance will help organisations sharpen up their foresight and improve their resilience in respect of future events.

The report outlines three plausible scenarios that should be considered by any organisation operating in the energy sector: a Middle East conflict, a Gulf of Mexico hurricane and the emergence of legal liability relating to climate change. Whether these scenarios themselves unfold as described is only part of the story: the process of marshalling the right people in an organisation to have a meaningful discussion around the scenarios and considering their implications and alternatives will be of great value in itself.

IRM has an active special interest group of practitioners working in the energy sector. We will encourage the members of that group now to take the Cambridge work and 'road test' it, working as a community to further develop new thinking in this area.

I would like to thank all the organisations and individuals who contributed to this work and also the Cambridge team for their focused and thorough approach, bringing some new thinking on concepts and techniques into the risk management space.



Socrates Coudounaris BEng (Hons) MSc FCII CIP CFIRM IRM Chair Risk Management Director, Reinsurance Group of America

Executive Summary

The energy value chain is a vital component of the global economy, an industry whose outputs underpin the growth and productivity of all other sectors of the global economy. The energy value chain spans the gamut from fossil fuel production to high intensity energy consumers. The future business prospects of the companies that are part of this value chain range widely and depend on both internal and external forces. In this case study, we present the application of scenario stress tests to energy value chain companies as a systematic approach for highlighting potential futures and assessing risks which may impact an organisation, sectors, or economies and for managing emerging risks.

The business backdrop to the energy value chain incorporates three dimensions:

- macroeconomic forecasts of rising global demand for hydrocarbons until at least 2040, albeit with a fuel mix that favours lower rates of noxious and CO₂ emissions;
- global geopolitics in which resource access and security remain important factors, the former thrown into the spotlight since the United States imposed tariffs on Chinese steel and aluminium in March 2018;
- scientific consensus that avoiding catastrophic damage to the global economy and society in the future requires concerted action to reduce CO₂ emissions before (and beyond) 2030.

Scenarios are standard in corporate risk assessment as organisational stress tests. Scenarios as strategic stress tests have been embedded in planning processes in the oil and gas industry for over a half a century, dating back to Shell's foresight of the 1973 OPEC oil embargo. By contrast, the stress test scenarios analysed here are shock events with acute impacts that speak directly to disaster recovery and resilience. They include a Middle East Conflict, a Hurricane in Gulf of Mexico, and a Climate Change Liability lawsuit.

Our findings are informed by external inputs including expert elicitation exercises for each of the three stress test scenarios; the CCRS-IRM 2018 Enterprise Risk Management report, which distils industry views from GICS sectors including those relevant to the energy value chain; and the wider business and management literature.

Descriptive Stress Test Scenarios



Geopolitical Crisis: Middle East Conflict Liability Risk: Litigation Against Carbon Emissions

Source: Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2019

Natural

Catastrophe:

Hurricane in the

Gulf of Mexico

When considering the business environment of any industry, it is helpful to have a reference to a generalised structure representing different risk areas. For the purposes of discussion in this case study, we refer to the classes within the Cambridge Taxonomy of Business Risks to guide our discussion of the most significant areas of business risks facing energy value chain companies. These stress test scenarios are representatives of half of the risk classes in the Cambridge Taxonomy of Business Risks: Geopolitical, Environmental and Governance.

The impacts to the energy value chain across the selected three scenarios have some similarities but also marked differences. Scenarios can be either driven by physical consequences with threats to people and facilities, or by financial impacts from fines, legal proceedings, or other material costs. Our qualitative scenario assessments show that response capacity and mitigations tend to cluster in four categories across the energy value chain:

- **Operations:** Business continuity and site monitoring capabilities play key roles in maintaining or reestablishing operational processes in the face of a large scale disruption. Standard resilience strategies include holding higher levels of inventory, strengthening facilities, and procuring back-up capacity. Connecting to local communities around sites is an aspect of resilience which goes beyond the organisation itself.
- Information and reporting: How a company manages the collection and reporting of information on its activities and ecosystem is a significant aspect of its preevent vulnerabilities and post-event responses to a shock. This relates to external transparency, via regulatory and market disclosures, and public relations; and internal communications regarding operations and staff.

• **Reputation:** A shock may depress stock prices in the medium or long term. This may be reflective of a reassessment of inherent risks to the business model of a firm, particularly when that shock is viewed as a weak signal of a long term trend.

The research presented in this report is part of the Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies' research track on corporate risk profiling¹. In partnership with the Institute for Risk Management, it is informed by views from risk management specialists representing companies within the energy value chain. The path towards a low carbon economy may pose challenges and material consequences to their business models that go beyond what is envisioned today. We believe it is vital for such research and partnerships to help facilitate and manage the strategic shifts and risks during the energy transition.

Conclusion & Future Perspectives

This case study presents three types of scenarios: a war, a hurricane, and a lawsuit. These scenarios, though individually unlikely, have a history of frequency and severity that provides a basis for estimating the future distribution of events. It is not possible to predict the timing and severity of any particular event; nevertheless, planning around unpredictable events can be an effective component to a company's risk management preparations. This is at the heart of the wide and continuing push for companies, as well as governmental agencies and notfor-profit organisations, to declare their risk exposures analogous to the way they declare asset values.

A deeper risk analysis would expand the qualitative analysis presented here in several ways. A comprehensive approach would dramatically increase the number and type of stress test scenarios, given the unpredictability of catastrophic events which a global organisation experiences – recurring impacts from non-recurring events. Attention to emerging risks rather than shock events is also important; this is increasingly recognised in business and regulation practices. Finally, quantifying risk exposure across a comprehensive

6

set of risks is a first step toward cost-benefit analysis of resilience management and investment. We believe this study contributes to the general intellectual field of building standardised evaluation processes for enabling more resilient organisations.

[•] **Financials:** Access to a "fighting fund" from company reserves or in some cases, insurance, may be of critical importance in responding to a large shock. A well-capitalised organisation will have opportunities to acquire distressed elements of other businesses in the aftermath of an ecosystem shock or regional disaster.

^{1 (}Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2018)

Section 1: Introduction

The energy value chain is a vital component of the global economy, an industry whose outputs underpin the growth and productivity of all other sectors of the global economy. The future business prospects of the companies that are part of this value chain range widely and depend on both internal and external forces. In this case study, we present the application of scenario stress tests to energy value chain companies as a systematic approach for highlighting potential futures and assessing risks which may impact an organisation, sectors, or economies and for managing emerging risks.

Futures scenarios may range from a business-as-usual perspective without major disruptions to its production or consumption, or the extreme converse - massive fundamental shifts to the energy landscape. This range of futures challenges strategic planning at companies, in particular, their risk management departments who have added responsibilities for incorporating this wide array of futures into their standard risk frameworks. Emerging risks pose particular risks to energy value chain companies. Given their capital investments and size, energy companies are often less agile to respond to internal and external risks that threaten their business models. These companies often have high capital investments in physical infrastructure, real estate and highly specialised staff, all of which make it difficult to execute rapid strategy changes.

Good practices in risk management serve to avoid or respond effectively to crises whether the risks are recognised or emerging. We argue that current risk management practices of global corporations may need to be rethought, or even reinvented to address tail risks - including processes for their identification, evaluation, mitigation, and monitoring. Traditionally, risks associated with regulation, natural hazards, geopolitics and macroeconomics have been key drivers of risk for the energy sectors. While high severity shocks in those risk areas will always be relevant, trends such as changes in climate and social sentiment regarding environmental issues represent new classes of risks which have yet to fully manifest through company balance sheets.

The research presented in this report is part of the Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies' research track on corporate risk profiling.² In partnership with the Institute for Risk Management, it is informed by views from risk management specialists representing companies within the energy value chain. These views were elicited through a combination of individual interviews, workshops, focus groups, live polling and an online survey.

8

The general objectives of our overall research programmes are to better understand current views, practices, and mitigations of risks at corporations and how they are adapting to meet future challenges and opportunities. While this report focusses on global corporations within the energy value chain, we expect organisations from other sectors to find considerable overlaps on the definition and application of scenarios as part of their risk management processes.

Companies within the Energy Value Chain

We refer to the Energy Value Chain as the collective of the organisations from producers and refiners of hydrocarbons in the upstream to heavy consumers of carbon-based inputs downstream. This covers fossil fuel producers, mainly in oil and gas, from exploration to retailing, and coal mining; and energy intensive firms such as carbon-based power generators and intrinsically high energy consumers such as metal smelters and cement manufacturers.

Companies in the Energy Value Chain are often referred to as heavy industries since they are capital-intensive, involve movement or processing of massive tonnages of raw material, and have high barriers to entry. The value chain starts with the supply chain of production and distribution and completes with the consumer.

We categorise companies by business sector segmentation using the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS) ³. This classification system is particularly well aligned with market reporting and analysis at the individual company level as well as broad categories of sectors. The GICS structure consists of 11 sectors, 24 industry groups, 69 industries, and 158 sub-industries and applies to companies globally. Energy value chain companies are dispersed throughout the energy, materials, industrials, and utilities GICS sectors. Alternative classification standards for future consideration include the Standard Industrial Codes (SIC), and North America Industrial Coding System (NAICS).

Within the oil and gas industry, the value chain can be broadly described as the following 4:

- Upstream sector: all activities associated with exploration & production
- Midstream sector: Transportation of crude oil to refineries and storage and marketing of wholesale products
- Downstream sectors: Refining, delivery to retail hubs, sales & marketing of products

Main participants in the international oil markets can be categorised as the following:

- Super Major Companies (SMCs)
- National Oil Company (NOCs)
- International Oil Companies (IOCs)

Beyond the focus of this report, there is a growing number of companies within the renewable energy, utilities, and technology sectors that are involved in the production, distribution, and support of clean energy. In particular, solar, wind, battery, and other technologies are making significant and growing contributions as viable energy sources. The future holds much optimism for renewables as their installed capacity is burgeoning worldwide. The European Environment Agency estimates around 17% of EU energy consumed came from renewable sources in 2017 with 11 EU member countries already meeting their 2020 targets. ⁵

This case study is part of the "Cambridge Case Study Series", a collection of analyses of risk management practices of global corporations. There is more publicly available data on companies in the US and Europe than other regions and literature and media coverage of business activities and reporting in these regions tend to follow suit. Likewise, the data and analysis in this case study has greater focus on sectors and companies located in the US and Europe. Additionally, this case study covers topics relevant to publicly listed companies with traditional business models in the energy value chain rather than those in the renewable energy markets.

^{2 (}Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2018)

^{3 (}S&P Global & MSCI 2018)

^{4 (}Saleh 2018)

^{5 (}European Environment Agency 2018)

Section 2: The Business Environment of Energy Value Chain Companies

A Market View

Many companies in the Energy Value Chain are large, longstanding, and widely considered as "blue chip". Given the high barriers to entry and capital requirements, it is not a surprise that challengers are not able to swiftly overtake market share and out-compete existing incumbents. This is in stark contrast to technology and information services companies that are able to dominate market capitalisation with comparatively low human and physical capital expenditures. However, the history of innovation shows storied paths of "blue chip" companies losing market share and eventually entering into distress as a result of disruptive business forces.

Given the size of many of these energy value chain companies, they are on one hand well-positioned to benefit from an international and interconnected marketplace shaped by globalisation. On the other hand, the world now faces renewed challenges to global business in the form of resurgent nationalism, protectionism, and reverses to international trade agreements - these factors certainly heighten risks to this industry.

The trends within the energy value chain show hydrocarbon production firms in relative decline over the last two decades as measured by their dominance of the global economy - they are in some circles referred to as a "sunset industry". As a reference point, the SMCs were consistently ranked in the top ten by market capitalisation until 2014 when they became outranked by the big technology companies such as Amazon, Apple, Facebook, Google, and Microsoft.⁶ Prevailing business environments and market trends are challenging the core of the business model of oil - "peak oil demand" is a phrase used by energy analysts to describe the end of growth of oil consumption.

Yet for at least the next two decades, global oil demand is projected to increase as developing nations continue their path of industrialisation, led by China and India with a growing role for other Asian and also African nations. The International Energy Agency (IEA) predicts around 20% increase in global energy demand from 2018 to 2040 under its New Policies scenario which is considerably below the 25% rise under Current Policies.⁷ Energy demand over time in the New Policies scenario is broken down by region and fuel type in Figure 1, which hints at the arrival of peak oil demand after 2040 whilst natural gas demand continues to grow and "peak coal demand" will have arrived by 2020.

Figure 1: IEA New Policy Scenario of World Energy Demand 2000-2040 by Fuel Type and Region (million tonnes of oil equivalent)







Source: Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies; Data from (International Energy Agency 2018)

7 (International Energy Agency 2018)

increased energy efficiency, growth in electrification, ^{8,9} pervasiveness of renewables, advancements in battery technology, and potential for ace disruptors. Others believe that energy demand will continue to increase due to the growth of the middle class in developing countries, the power demands of a more technologically advanced world, and to meeting the consequences of climate change. However, there is consensus that demand for carbon-based energy sources will have peaked and will begin a trajectory of decline.¹⁰,¹¹

Beyond 2040, estimates are wider ranging on whether

energy demand will plateau or continue to grow. Some

believe that global energy demand will flatten due to

In the long term, oil and coal prices are expected to decrease relative to other energy sources. They will be replaced by natural gas and renewable energy production which will reduce CO₂ outputs, noxious nitrous, sulphurous and particulate emissions. A specific pressure point is visible in downstream oil refining, namely the prospect of decreasing petroleum and diesel sales for vehicles in urban areas, driven by clean air regulation and public health concerns rather than reductions in CO₂ emissions.¹² This looming retail challenge is significant but it is debatable that this poses a viability risk to oil and gas companies when viewed in the context of rising demand for their products between now and 2040.

State of Geopolitics

Distribution of fossil fuel reserves is an important part of the value chain. Figure 2 highlights the significance of the Middle East and South America as sources of petroleum and hence the impact on global oil and gas industry of their national companies. Taking the reliance on those regional economies for oil revenues together with global pressures to reduce the consumption of hydrocarbons, the existence of significant geopolitical risk is arguably more salient than traditional economic risk to those economies. The chance of massive disruption to the global production of oil and gas has been growing.

Taking a geopolitical view of the demand side of fossil fuels, it is difficult to overstate the future impact of China, which has steadily expanded the scope, scale and influence of its marine and transportation infrastructure sectors over the past two decades. According to the Financial Times,

10

'two-thirds of global container traffic passes through Chinese owned or invested ports,' additionally, 'Beijing's shipping lines deliver more containers [throughput] than those from any other country.' ¹³. Transportation infrastructure is often developed in Belt and Road Initiative partner nations on terms highly favourable to China and in which China can leverage its geo-economic superiority to gain strategic advantage. Taken together with the modernisation of the Peoples Liberation Army Navy (PLAN), Chinese diversification in the marine and transportation infrastructure sector could prove to be a critical source for manmade risk and shocks if geopolitical tensions were to escalate. ^{14 15 16 17 18}

⁸ (Mai et al. 2012)

⁹ (Citi 2019)

^{10 (}McKinsey & Company 2019)

^{11 (}BP plc 2019)

^{12 (}Oxford Energy Forum 2018)

^{13 (}Kynge et al. 2017)

⁽Kynge et al. 2017) 14

⁽Office of the Secretary of Defense 2018) 15

⁽Thorne and Spevack 2017) 16

¹⁷ (Linden 2018)

^{18 (}Blackwill and Harris 2017)



Figure 2: Proved Reserves of Oil Companies (percent of worldwide proved reserves)

Source: Originally appeared in Aled Jones presentation, "Sustainable Development Goals & Business". Calculated from EIA estimates of world total of 1.6 trillion barrels in 2013 and Oil & Gas Journal, Sep 1 2014

Currency Exchange Rates

The dominance of the dollar in world trade can be illustrated in Figure 3. Despite the global nature of the energy industry, oil is traded almost exclusively in US Dollars since it has been the de facto reserve currency of the world dating back to the 1944 Bretton-Woods Agreement. This exposes the sector to exchange rate fluctuations against the US Dollar. Oil may be used as a financial asset to hedge against depreciation of the US Dollar.¹⁹ A country's currency exchange rate against the US dollar is determined by a number of factors such as the health of its local economy measured by interest rate, public debt, economic performance, current account deficits, inflation measures and status of its trade accounts.²⁰

For example, outside the USA, a firm which is an intensive oil or natural gas consumer can be hit by rising costs if its national currency weakens against the dollar; such firms may consider long term energy supply contracts or foreign exchange hedges to mitigate exchange rate fluctuations.

Figure 3: Percentages of Global **Payments Conducted in Leading** Currencies to Jan 2017



Source: Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies; Data from SWIFT

Cyber Risks

Cyber risk for all businesses is changing rapidly due to explosive growth in digital attack surfaces as companies are taking advantage of digital efficiencies. The number of devices being operated by businesses and the number of commercial endpoints being connected to the internet are growing at rates of around 12% annually.²¹ Energy systems are particularly at risk because of their social and economic importance. The supply, processing, and distribution of energy occurs at a transnational level. This complexity increases the vulnerability of the energy supply chain to accidental and deliberate intervention.

There is a growing potential for cyber physical loss events for the sector. Of most concern are those that target public and private critical infrastructure such as energy utilities, water treatment facilities, manufacturing, transportation networks and aviation industries. In the first two guarters of 2018 40% of all monitored industrial control systems reportedly came under attack.²² Highly capitalised corporations are especially vulnerable to state-sponsored cyber activities as they see economic opportunity and potential to gain advanced knowledge. Nation-state cyber actors can also cause systemic cyber events leading to business interruption, corruption of supply chains, theft of intellectual property, reputational damage, regulatory fines and mitigation costs.²³

Climate Change

Beyond today's business risks, there are longer term concerns. Climate change, extreme weather and consequential environmental damage are rising concerns which have been highlighted by numerous global surveys.²⁴,²⁵ Climate change poses a major risk to the alobal economy affecting the wealth, prosperity and wellbeing of all nations. More specifically to this case study, it will have major impacts on the availability of resources, the price of energy, the vulnerability of infrastructure and the valuation of companies.²⁶ The business community seeks to better understand the realities of climate change on their business that go far past their corporate social responsibility initiatives.

The financial services and investment communities are identifying opportunities for reducing climate-related investment risks through portfolio construction and diversification across different asset classes, regions, and

- 21 (Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2019)
- 22 (Centre for the Protection of National Infrastructure 2018)
- 23 (Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2019)
- 24 (World Economic Forum 2019)
- 25 (Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2019)
- 26 (Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2015)

Scenario Applications: Stress Testing Companies in the Energy Value Chain

19 (Fratzscher, Schneider, and Van Robays 2014)

20 (Twin 2019)

portfolios.²⁷ Insurance and risk transfer sectors are adjusting their underwriting in writing policies in response to their claims history to better absorb future climate impacts on their balance sheets.²⁸ Companies serving the defense sector are working with entities such as the US Navy in preparing for national security implications of an ice-free Arctic – a zone in which their submarines would have to share passage ways with international commercial vessels. ²⁹ Businesses are growing in their acceptance that climate change is having a real impact on their profits. Where does this leave companies in the energy value chain who are perceived to be on the wrong side of climate change?

Likewise, public sentiment and rhetoric about climate change action is shifting. Except for the US, the G20 countries unanimously support the Paris Climate Agreement.³⁰ Nevertheless, there is an upward trend of Americans believing that global warming is occurring and is caused mostly by human activities; 73% of Americans think global warming is happening and 62% understand that it is mostly human-caused.³¹ The frequency of organised demonstrations supporting action on climate change is growing worldwide. This ranges from youth-led protests³² to corporate employee walk-outs across major cities of the world.33

Scientific measurement and research support that climate change is a global problem that is growing at dangerous rates. Average and local temperatures throughout the world continue to surpass record levels each year with the last five years from 2014 to 2018 being the warmest years ever recorded. ³⁴ Excess greenhouse gases (Carbon Dioxide, Methane, Nitrous Oxide, and water vapour) released into the atmosphere over the last century are the biggest culprits to the warming of the air and water on the planet. ³⁵ The Fifth Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) concludes that "It is extremely likely [95 percent confidence] more than half of the observed increase in global average surface temperature from 1951 to 2010 was caused by the anthropogenic increase in greenhouse gas concentrations and other anthropogenic forcings together."36

- 28 (Hope and Friedman 2018)
- 29 (US Navy Task Force for Climate Change 2014)
- 30 (Nace 2018)
- 31 (Leiserowitz et al. 2018)
- 32 (BBC News 2019)
- 33 (Newburger 2019)
- 34 (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 2019)
- (NASA Global Climate Change, n.d.) 35
- 36 (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 2013)

^{27 (}HSBC 2016)

There is a disconnect between the global economics view of future demand for fossil fuels, represented in Figure 1, and the scientific consensus that fossil fuel emissions continue to drive up the average temperature of the planet, increasing the probability and severity of climatic disasters. The IPCC warned in 2018³⁷ that the planet will reach the crucial average temperature threshold of 1.5 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels as early as 2030. The IPCC points out that compared to 1.5 degrees, 2 degrees of warming exposes hundreds of millions of people to the risks of extreme drought, wildfires, floods and food shortages. While the future economic and social damage from climate change will be massive if not catastrophic ³⁸, climate change damage can be reduced substantially by significant reduction in CO2 emissions in the next decade and beyond. The short term co-benefits of reduced CO2 emissions are also substantial, ³⁹ particularly improved public health from cleaner air.

In the words of Nitin Nohria, the dean of Harvard Business School, "None of the major problems confronting the globe today—sustainability, health care, poverty, financial-system repair—can be solved unless business plays a significant role." 40 Climate change is one of the world's most pressing problems without an obvious solution and thus companies in the energy value chain will need to be active participants in order to support an orderly transition from a high-carbon to a low-carbon energy economy.

What is the future of the companies within the energy value chain, and will they have a role in a non-carbon-based energy economy? Considering that the energy majors currently have control of the energy distribution networks and access to large amounts of capital, it seems likely that they will be significant shapers of the future of the energy markets. A clearer picture of their risks may enable companies in making the necessary strategic pivots to remain competitive in a low-carbon economy and rise to the forces from subsequent momentous business model disruptions. We posit that a risk lens offers an objective business relevant focus to the energy transition that will help reconcile meeting the world's energy demand with reducing greenhouse gases. See Appendix A for more discussion on the transitioning to a low-carbon economy.

Self-Reported Top Enterprise Risks by Companies in the Energy Value Chain

We begin by briefly reviewing the enterprise risks reported by global corporations, with a focus on the energy sector. We report top risks identified in Cambridge's 2018 Enterprise Risk Management⁴¹ report by business sector using the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS)⁴². The top four enterprise risks are displayed by each GICS sector in the sector view, Figure 4 below. Financial risk and Reputation risk are commonly represented across most sectors. However certain risks are sector specific. Although Geopolitical risk ranks low (9 out of 10) across all sectors covered in the 2018 Enterprise Risk Management report, it ranks highly in sectors such as Energy, Telecommunications, and Materials.

Figure 4: Sector View of Top Enterprise Risks for Companies.

ENEF	RGY	TELECOMMUNICA	TION SEI
Geopolitical (34.6%)	Health safety (20.1%)	Revenues, profits, shareprice (26%)	Regula standa (24.7
Revenues, profits, shareprice (26.3%)	Operational performance (19%)	Geopolitical (24.7%)	Reputo (24.7
REAL E	STATE	FINAN	CIALS
Revenues, profits, shareprice (29.9%)	Market share (22.1%)	Regulatory standards (29.5%)	Reput (21.
Operational performance (27.9%)	Health safety (20.1%)	Revenues, profits, shareprice (28.6%)	Operc perfor (20.
GOV &	NGO	INFORMATION 1	TECHNOI
Operational performance (26.2%)	Security (25.1%)	Regulatory standard: (33.6%)	Legal I (20
Reputation (25.6%)	Regulatory standards (23.1%)	Security (27.6%)	Bus Cont (18

Source: Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies and Institute for Risk Management 2018 ERM Survey; Sector classifications by GICS.

- 38 (Economist Intelligence Unit 2015)
- 39 (Hamilton 2017)
- 40 (Nohria 2010)

14

Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies

42 (S&P Global & MSCI 2018)

41 (Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2018)

The Centre of Risk Studies has also reviewed company disclosures (10-Ks, 20-Fs, annual reports and risk management reports for Latin American companies) for 60 of the Forbes 100 largest public companies⁴³ based mainly in North America, Asia Pacific and Europe. In total, over a thousand risk factors have been identified and categorised into 20 risk categories from the 2018 ERM Survey. Figure 5 illustrates a summary of the findings by sector. Overall, the top risk categories of concern are revenues, profits, share price, regulatory, standards and reporting and macroeconomic and trade factors. The energy sector ranking is different than the overall ranking with regulatory overtaking financials as the top risk. Natural catastrophe and climate is featured as the 4th most common risk factor for the energy sector while it is only the 8th most common overall. Other commonly named risk factors include: capital project failure, climate change, cyber security and geopolitical risks.



The different vocabulary of risk factors present in annual reports highlights the need for a consistent risk taxonomy. The interchange of primary threats and consequences from threats as risk factors further emphasizes this point.

With the trend in risk reporting potentially migrating towards scenario based probabilistic assessment it will be interesting to watch how companies, not just in the energy sector,

^{37 (}IPCC 2018)

^{43 (}Forbes n.d.)

Figure 5: Heatmap of Risk Factor Occurrence by Risk Category across GIC Sectors

	Communication Services	Consumer Discretionary	Consumer Staples	Energy	Financials	Health Care	Industrials	Information Technology	Materials	Utilities	Grand Total
Financials - Revenues, profits, share price	7	18	11	29	84	10	10	5	8	5	187
Regulatory, standards and reporting	9	9	17	43	63	12	12	8	10	2	185
Macro-economic and trade factors	10	12	21	25	72	5	11	1	22	1	180
Market share	11	7	19	15	25	18	9	6	8	1	119
Other	8	5	14	2	17	8	5	10	6	1	76
Legal liabilities including taxation	10	7	8	4	17	3	5	7	2		63
Security of enterprise including cyber-security	3	3	10	8	15	3	3	3	3	1	52
Natural catastrophe and climate		3	5	20	11	2	1		5		47
Reputation/brand	3	3	8	2	12	2		3		1	34
Human capital	4	2	6	3	6		1	2	6	2	32
Environment and sustainability		3	4	13	1				5	1	27
Operational performance	3		3	2	7			8	4		27
Financials - Debt, pensions, and obligations	2	3			8		8	1	3		25
Business continuity and crisis management		1	3	4	1		2		1		12
Health and safety	1		6	1					2		10
Credit rating	1	1	1		2		1				6
Devaluation or damage of physical assets	1							1		1	3
Geo-political risks			1		1			1			3
Company viability											0
Gender and diversity											0
Grand Total	73	77	137	171	342	63	68	56	85	16	1088
Count of Companies Reviewed	4	4	7	11	19	3	4	2	5	1	60

Source: Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies; Sector classifications by GICS.

Section 3: Exploration of Risks through Scenarios

transform their risk exposure communications. Companies in the energy value chain rely on long term capital investments, and thus are particularly sensitive to the alignment of their strategies with business implementation and associated risk management planning. High capital intensity is needed to support infrastructure for energy production and distribution and warrants careful cost benefit analysis and risk assessments. Given that the wider business, regulatory and societal environment is clouded by significant uncertainty emerging from a multitude of varying internal and external conditions, scenario analysis provides broad structures that are particularly conducive to the exploration of risks.

Introduction to Scenario Stress Tests

Scenario analysis is a common approach used by managers to view organisations in an imagined state in order to assess risks and opportunities. In the 2018 Enterprise Risk Management survey,⁴⁴ 63% of respondents said their company uses scenarios as part of their business risk analysis. Meanwhile, respondents highlight that there is not a standard scenario library tool for companies to use for assessment and management of risk.

Scenarios are used to challenge the business-as-usual mentality in the context of risks, whether internal to the organisation or external/systemic, short or long term, or having the characteristic of a business disruption or a strategic shift. Perhaps the most common uses of scenarios are as stress tests, either as operational shocks or strategic challenges. This forms the basis for risk assessments and can be used to facilitate reporting, management, and mitigation of risks; and ultimately to rationalise investment in resilience. Scenarios are valued in management for developing or capturing creative thinking about plausible futures, rather than attempting to predict the timing or severity of particular events. The Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies acknowledges that foreseeable risks, which can be described and even quantified by scenarios, are too often unpredictable regarding timing and other characteristics.

A critical distinction can be made between scenarios that examine emerging trends, which are of concern for long-term strategic planning, and those that consider catastrophes

44 (Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2018)

or shocks or tail risks, which represent acute threats that may trigger simultaneous impacts across an organisation and its supporting ecosystem. This report focusses on how catastrophic or shock scenarios can be used to assess risk to firms in the energy value chain.

Since the 1970s, scenarios have been used extensively in the energy sector for exposing strategic threats to oil exploration and production associated with changing geopolitics and markets. Royal Dutch Shell brought scenario planning from the arena of national security into the corporate boardroom, foreseeing the emergence, but not the time of arrival, of the world's first global oil cartel which duly arrived in 1973 in the form of the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries, OPEC. Scenario planning at Shell has also been credited with advance warning, not quite prediction but visibility of the future arrival, of the more severe price shock of 1979, the collapse of the oil market in 1986, the fall of the Soviet Union, the rise of Muslim radicalism, and increasing pressure on companies to address environmental and social problems. ⁴⁵

Catastrophe analysis has been a major factor in the success of the modern insurance industry. A modelling revolution was driven by the financial aftermath of Hurricane Andrew in the 1980s which saw the demise of many North American insurers. To clarify the goal of catastrophe risk analysis, we address two questions that are familiar when undertaking a scenario analysis.

First, what is the scenario for? We use shock scenarios to gain a better understanding of tail risk, starting with identification of a variety of extreme but low probability events, and then considering how severe their impacts might be. Second, how does examination of shock scenarios help to assess and manage risk? Workshopping scenario impacts, on the basis of scenarios that are calibrated on real events from the historical catalogue of shocks, is an effective way to improve qualitative understanding of risks which are present but not top of mind. This is a step toward quantitative assessment of risk exposures which is itself preparation for understanding the tradeoff between the value of resilience – reducing losses or capitalising on opportunities that are intrinsic to shocks –, and the cost of investments in resilience capacity.

Scenario Stress Tests to Assess Risk Exposure and the Value of Mitigations

A more comprehensive risk study would comprise the six steps shown in Figure 6.

This case study reviews the qualitative assessment of three shock scenarios. This is associated with the third stage in the cycle - Evaluate. It is worth a few details here on the prior stages of the Risk Management Cycle, which are to identify and specify scenarios. Identification, the first stage of the cycle, can be undertaken by elicitation from sample groups of staff members, who represent the breadth and depth of the organisation, and external experts; and also by reviewing the literature for threats identified or explored there. In the context of both top risks and emerging risks, this basket of activities may be called horizon scanning, and is usually undertaken in an annual process that maintains and adjusts a short list of high priority threat areas.

Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies prescribes additional structure to the identification or scanning process by producing a long and relatively static list or taxonomy of threat classes. The goal of the taxonomy is to provide a boundary for the subsequent risk discussion, not the details of particular threats that can be placed within the taxonomy. When considering the business environment of any company, it is helpful to have a reference to a generalised structure representing different risk areas. For the purposes of discussion in this case study, we refer to the classes within the Cambridge Taxonomy of Business Risks in Figure 7 to guide our discussion of the most significant areas of business risks facing energy value chain companies.

Figure 6: Cambridge Risk Methodology - Risk Management Cycle



Source: Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies



18

Source: Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies, 2019 CTBR_V2.0

Figure 8: Descriptive Stress Test Scenarios



Geopolitical Crisis: Middle East Conflict

Natural Catastrophe: Hurricane in the Gulf of Mexico

Source: Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2019

The third stage of the cycle is to select a subset of risks from the taxonomy, to be later assessed or evaluated for business impact. Rather than consider risk types in the abstract, we prepare a long list of scenarios each of which illustrates a different threat type. Stakeholders are convened or polled to compare those scenarios. Iterating with stakeholders allows scenarios to be revised, or new scenarios to be added. Examples of such scenarios can be seen in Figure 8.

A preliminary and usually gualitative evaluation of scenarios by their impact is undertaken by stakeholders. The output of this is a selection of scenarios and their corresponding threat types. That is, the Select stage typically involves a preliminary assessment, with the main evaluation in the third stage to follow. A qualitative Evaluate stage may iterate in a facilitated process between expert judgement, translational work from the empirical and other research literatures, and stakeholder validation.

Beyond qualitatively evaluating risk impacts of a given scenario, a deeper study (that is beyond the scope of this report) would produce a set of empirical or modelled quantitative outputs, to Evaluate:

- Maximal loss for each scenario
- Probabilistic assessment leading to estimation of average loss such as annualised average loss
- Value of existing and potentially new resilience measures

The goal is a set of evaluation processes that, by consistency of methodology, allow comparison between different scenarios, and thus aggregation across all scenarios. to:

Carbon Emissions

Liability Risk: Litigation Against

- Put a value on existing resilience capacity and to give a cost-benefit analysis of changing or investing in resilience measures
- Identify the potential for risks to scale or cascade and the paths by which that happens

Such a quantification framework requires a comprehensive library of scenario stress tests and methodology for translating scenario severity into metrics for business impact. It is beyond the scope of this case study to expand on the remaining stages in the Cycle, which are to Prioritise, Mitigate and Monitor risks. Very briefly, prioritisation is in terms of threat impact, as generated by the Evaluate stage, and may also reflect mitigations: a scenario with higher impact, or mitigations that are less costly or more effective, will tend to be highlighted for management attention. Monitoring is natural in dual checking the expected effect of mitigation, and also useful in updating certain scenarios whose characteristics, such as probability of occurrence, vary over time.

Section 4: Selected Scenarios for the Energy Value Chain

Overview and Selection of

Scenarios

A wide variety of scenarios are needed to comprehensively represent risks in the energy value chain. To prioritise risk categories of relevance, we turn to our 2018 Enterprise Risk Management report ⁴⁶ which surveys a variety of business sectors on their principal risks, including four sectors that constitute the energy value chain: Energy, Industrials, Materials and Utilities. The top four risk classes identified by those sectors (see Figure 4) are summarised as follows:

- Operations, or Operational Performance;
- Staff, or Health & Safety;
- Financials. or Revenues. Profits and Share Price:
- Geopolitics;

This case study is informed by three very different scenarios, selected to give broad coverages of challenges facing the energy value chain.

20



Scenario #1: Geopolitical Crisis: Middle East Conflict

Description: This explores the issues of geopolitical events in influencing energy prices and in posing operational risks for energy producers who operate in many different volatile regions of the world. We use a stress test scenario of the outbreak of war across the region of the Middle East, as follows:

- o Oil production is halted in the region for a substantial period (1 to 3 years).
- o Oil prices spike; World-wide recession is triggered.
- o The conflict is eventually brought to an end by international intervention.
- o See Appendix B: Science in Scenarios for a description of this scenario.

Note: While this type of risk has long been known to global companies, the scenario highlights a specific regional conflict that would be significant to a global energy company.

First Order Impacts: Revenue drop would constitute the lion's share of impact on an organisation with part of its footprint in the affected region, with increased operating costs also causing substantial harm to short term profits. The possibility of total loss of assets and associated future revenue streams is real. Negative market sentiment could be expected to play out beyond the duration of the event itself. The relevance of insurance is limited given war exclusions.



Scenario #2: Natural Catastrophe: Hurricane in the Gulf of Mexico

Description: Externalities, such as extreme weather events, drive the potential exposure of high-value and long-duration lifespan assets that are integral to the energy value chain. This stress test scenario assesses the destruction of assets and disruption to production from impact of a severe hurricane on concentrations of assets in the Gulf of Mexico:

- o Flood and wind damage
- o Severe disruption and damage to energy assets onshore/off-shore
- o Energy production takes 6 months to return to previous capacity
- o Environmental consequences and liability for many years

Note: This scenario represents a familiar threat in a familiar location but in an extreme case.

First Order Impacts: Harm is seen mainly in increased operating costs, including cost of disruption or suspension of operations, and damage to operating assets in the affected region. The risks here are largely physical and insurable, including business interruption, though large energy companies may self-insure for property loss. Some expenditures may be offset by increased profits from trading activities.



Scenario #3: Liability Risk: Litigation Against Carbon Emissions

Description: We consider the potential exposure of the energy value chain to changing attitudes towards the business model of energy companies and heavy industry, which increases reputational risk and the potential for litigation to be brought for liabilities arising from climate change. The stress test scenario assumes that case law evolves, and that today's low level of litigation increases to a more severe level in a future environment where mass torts become successful.

- o Precedents are visible in the asbestos/tobacco/ opioid value chains; liability potentially global though currently most prevalent in the United States.
- o Redress sought from all climate change consequences; sea level rise, meteorological extremes, marine environmental damage.
- o No master settlement agreement is reached.

Note: This scenario is representative of a growing risk facing all companies – rise of liability in general.

First Order Impacts: Substantial costs of fines and settlements could inflict serious harm to the balance sheet. Reputational impacts would damage current and future prospects, potentially revenue shocks. Liability costs are insurable unlike longer term reputational effects on the price of energy stocks.

These scenarios are chosen to provide a range of different characteristics relating to the risk types and classes seen in the Cambridge Taxonomy of Business Risks in Figure 7 and business consequences detailed in Table 1:

Table 1: Risk Types and Business Consequences for the Three Scenarios under Study

Scenario #		#1	#2	#3
Risk Type (Risk Class)		Conventional Military War (Geopolitical)	Tropical Windstorm (Environmental)	Class Action (Governance)
Business Consequence	Operations	Х	Х	
	Staff	X	Х	
	Financials	Х	Х	Х
	Reputation			Х
Value of Insurance			Lliah	Liability: High
		LOW	пign	Reputation: Low

The following sections of this report include deep dives into each Scenario #1, #2 and #3. Each scenario deep dive was presented in a workshop format to a group of subject matter specialists who were charged with reporting back on pre- and post-event management as follows:

Pre-Event: Key Risk Management Actions

- Management decision support
- Actioning mitigations/triggers
- Risk transfer ideas
- Playbook/simulation
- o Process for expat movements
- o Shut down facilities vs repair
- o Increase activities at other sites

We report below on the scenarios and the pre- and postevent expert analysis.



Scenario #1: Geopolitical Crisis: Middle East Conflict

Energy resources are located in some of the most politically volatile areas of the world, and part of the business process of the energy value chain is to manage the risk of geopolitical crises that arise from time to time.

Geopolitical risks are an inevitable part of doing business in the Middle East considering that it is one of the largest production areas of energy and a global choke-point for shipping oil and gas around the world. Conflicts in the Middle East have impacted the energy sector on many previous occasions. The first two decades of the 21st century has witnessed an escalation in tensions throughout the Middle East resulting in widespread instability. Relationships throughout the region remain complex and interconnected, and several factors drive regional competition including religious ideology.

In this scenario we consider the potential for a wider-scale conflict arising through the constant tension of the Shia/ Sunni divide in the region. The Shia/Sunni divide dictates the structure of alliances within the region with most states aligning either with Shia Iran or Sunni Saudi Arabia 47 (with the exceptions of Qatar and Turkey perhaps ⁴⁸). The

Post-Event: Measuring and Assessing Recovery

- What are key metrics for monitoring event impacts
- Who is responsible for management of event
- Information process for resolution/damage assessment
- Actions/mitigations to respond to scenario
- External factors affecting metric

region also suffers from intense security competition⁴⁹ largely due to the Shia/Sunni divide, petropolitics ⁵⁰ and its geostrategic relevance to great powers. ⁵¹ Security competition most prominently manifests itself through the support of proxy forces throughout the region,⁵² direct intervention,⁵³ and weapons proliferation.⁵⁴ Additionally, the U.S. invasion of Irag in 2003 destabilised the region, causing Iran and Saudi Arabia to recalculate their interests within the regional balance of power further intensifying security competition.⁵⁵ The rise of the role of non-state actors has accelerated the Arab Spring, ⁵⁶ and will continue to challenge domestic governance ⁵⁷ while actively encouraging security competition abroad. See Figure 9 for a summary of historical conflict across Saudi Arabia and Iran and Table 2 for a summary of notable conflicts between Saudi Arabia and Iran.

- 49 (Posen 1993)
- 50 (Jaffe and Elass 2016; Luciani 2011)
- 51 (Wright 2018)
- 52 (Rabi and Mueller 2018)
- 53 (Sharp 2018)
- 54 (Iran Action Group 2018)
- 55 (Sky 2015)
- 56 (Hoffman 2018)
- 57 (Wittes 2016)

^{47 (}Abdo, et al. 2017)

Figure 9: Historical Conflict and Extremist Events in Saudi Arabia and Iran



Source: Boschee et al 2018, Harvard Dataverse

Table 2: Summary of Notable Conflicts between Saudi Arabia and Iran.

Date	Conflict	Description of Conflict
1980 - 1988	Iran-Iraq War	Tensions between Iran and Revolution. Ayatollah Khor secular government and m bombings in Iraq and regio withdraw from internation lasted for eight years and a their 700-mile border. Iraq ground war. Iraq eventuall tankers and facilities, starti mined international waters when Iraqi and regional er ⁵⁹ A major motivation of th the Iranian regime, which force for Iraq and several of also played a part. The Kur and, Saudi Arabia along w same worries of the Irania
2017 - Present	Qatar Diplomatic Crisis	In June 2017, a cyber oper contrary to Saudi Arabian or plant disinformation the in the Gulf. Saudi Arabia a supports a variety of desta business relationship with regional competition, acce the dispute by sending add as well as foodstuffs to reli and other material during remains unresolved.
2015 – Present	Yemeni Civil War	The Yemeni Civil War, ongo humanitarian and proxy w actors in Yemen are fightin government, elements of A are fighting the Iranian ba regional actors have at tim interests. The Houthi's are financing from Iran, and to maritime infrastructure, ald have been targeted by wea been directly intervening in country. The US has been The Yemeni civil war repres in the region, as the numb or miscalculation.

Source: Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies

61 (Kirkpatrick and Frenkel 2017; Katzman and Blanchard 2017; Katzman 2019b)

d Irag escalated into an eight-year war after the 1979 Iranian neini, the supreme leader of Iran, disdained Iraq for their ninority Sunni rule over a majority Shia population. Shia onal and territorial politics caused the Iraqi government to nal agreements and eventually go on the offensive. ⁵⁸ The war except for minor territorial incursions, remained roughly along maintained air superiority and Iran controlled much of the ly bombarded Iranian cities with missiles, targeted Iranian oil ing the tanker war, and, for the first time used poison gas. Iran rs and at times became the target of US retaliatory actions nergy supplies were threatened, undermining global stability. he Iragi regime to start the war was to force the collapse of was thought to be hostile, expansionist and a destabilising other Gulf states with Shia populations. Territorial ambitions rdish minority population was suppressed with Turkish help, vith other Gulf states gave backing to Iraq, suffering from the an revolution that initially spurred Iraq into action. 60

eration meant to either expose Qatari interests that are and other Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) partner interests, at supports that view, started an ongoing diplomatic crisis and the UAE spearheaded the effort, claiming that Qatar abilising non-state actors throughout the region. Qatar's Iran and perceived strategic deference, during a time of elerates the crisis. A land blockade saw Turkey back Qatar in ditional troops to a contentious Turkish military base in Qatar, ieve the stress of the blockade. Iran also provides foodstuffs the height of the crisis. ⁶¹ The crisis has deaccelerated but still

oing since 2015, remains one of the regions greatest civil, vars to date, resulting in over 17,000 casualties. Several ng against each other. Locally, the Saudi backed the Hadi Al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula (AQAP) and the ISIS acked Houthi Shia's. The UAE, the United States and other nes acted in accordance with Saudi and Hadi government e thought to be receiving training, advanced weaponry and o a lesser extent, Lebanese Hezbollah. Saudi energy and long with Saudi assets within Saudi territory, are thought to apons provided by Iran to the Houthi's. The Saudi's have n Yemen, targeting strategic Houthi positions throughout the participating in operations targeting elements of AQAP.⁶² esents the most likely flashpoint that could lead to escalation per of actors participating in hostilities can lead to an accident

^{58 (}Sick 1989)

^{59 (}Sick 1989; Segal 1988; Naff 1985)

^{60 (}Naff 1985)

^{62 (}Sharp 2018; Iran Action Group 2018; DNI 2019; Katzman 2019a)

Using the military power rankings of nations developed for the Cambridge Global Risk Index: Iran and Saudi Arabia are both considered to be medium powers. The following table summarises each country's military strength in more detail. Countries classified as "petrostates" or countries where at least 10% of their GDP is from oil export are 3.5 times more likely to be involved in conflicts when a revolutionary leader is in power. ⁶³ Saudi Arabia and Iran are considered "petrostates".

Table 3: Military strengths of Saudi Arabia and Iran



Source: Global Fire Power⁶⁴

Cyber warfare

During the scenario, three distinct areas of cyber competition are taking place in the Near East. The first, disinformation is best represented by the Qatari diplomatic crisis mentioned above. The second involves the targeting of individual companies for the deployment of self-propagating malware affecting large portions of company's network. Unlike systemic events, the destruction is confined within a specific corporate network. The best example in the Near East is the Shamoon disk wiper attacks, which have targeted Saudi Arabian assets in 2012, 2016 and 2018. The attacks self-propagate throughout a corporate network and encrypt computers in a way in which all data is permanently lost, creating business disruption and rebuilding costs.⁶⁵ The third is highly targeted attacks that have the potential to become destructive. In 2011, Stuxnet was deployed against the Iranian nuclear program and successfully undermined Iranian nuclear efforts. Widely regarded as the first destructive cyber attack, Stuxnet was designed to specifically attack industrial control systems (ICS), resulting in delays to the Iranian nuclear program and possible destruction to nuclear centrifuges.⁶⁶ In late 2017 another potentially destructive malware, termed

Triton, targeted a single facility in Saudi Arabia. Triton was designed to undermine Safety Instrumented Systems (SIS) within an industrial control systems environment, and under the right circumstances could result in physical destruction.⁶⁷

Scenario narrative

Following a targeted Iranian cyber-attack on a large petrochemical facility in Saudi Arabia, Saudi Arabia announces a war with Iran and deploys jets to begin bombing key assets in Iran. The use of conventional warfare prevents oil production in the region, thus driving up oil prices. The war lasts from one year in the less extreme variant to three years in the most extreme scenario variant. The spike in oil price drives a world-wide recession in the most extreme variant. Several regional and global powers get involved in the war, which is finally brought to an end through international intervention. Table 4 highlights the primary and non-state actors that we assume support each country in the war, with Qatar, Turkey and Oman as potential wild cards.

67 (Johnson et al. 2017; Dragos 2017)

63 (Colgan 2014)

- 64 (Global Fire Power 2018a; 2018b) (Global Fire Power 2018a; 2018b)
- 65 (Perlroth 2012; Chan 2016; Symantec 2018)
- 66 (Zetter 2011)

Table 4: Regional and Global Intervention.

Country	Primary Support	Non-State Actors
Saudi Arabia	UAE Hadi Government (Yemen) Jordan Egypt Bahrain Kuwait United States	Al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula (AQAP) Syrian Democratic Forces (SDF, Syria)
Iran	Iraq Syria Lebanon (Hezbollah) Houthi (Yemen) Russia	Kurds (Iraq), Popular Mobilization Force (PMF, Iraq)

Pre-event mitigations

Early warning indicators

Energy companies continuously monitor these signs of war in the countries they operate in, through their country risk desks:

- Geopolitical temperature Keeping tabs on the geopolitical climate is a necessary task for any firm doing business in complex regions. This can be done with inhouse experts and analysts, bringing on board known experts or hiring outside counsel.
- Oil price A study of oil prices in 153 countries from 1947 to 2001 found that in petrostates a high oil price was associated with an increase in geopolitical disputes.⁶⁸ Thus, oil price can be a leading indicator that tensions are likely to rise in countries who export significant quantities of oil.
- *Military exercises* Governments can use military exercises as a political message to their advisories or a show of force. Corporates should see this as a sign that tensions are increasing in the region.
- Cyber attacks Countries are more and more turning to cyber attacks as a precursor or even a proxy to conventional war itself. Saudi Arabia has seen an increase in the number of cyber attacks on its stateowned and private owned petrochemical assets with the most recent one in August 2017 feared to have the potential to cause an explosion.⁶⁹
- *Trade sanctions* As part of growing tensions trade sanctions might be placed on specific countries.
- Armament If a country begins arming themselves, this is a clear sign that a conflict is imminent and precautionary actions need to be taken by firms doing business in this country.

Scenario Applications: Stress Testing Companies in the Energy Value Chain

26

 Objective of the conflict – Understanding the objective of the conflict can aid corporates in making the right preparations. Most conventional wars fall into one of these categories: capture territory, free people, gain control of key resources or security management. Also understanding what the proposed duration of conflict is likely to be could alter decision making. The 2003 invasion of Iraq is a good example of a proposed limited conflict that ended up lasting over 8 years.

Business structure resilience

International oil companies (IOCs) can be shielded from the effects of an interstate conflict in countries where they conduct business simply by the diversification of their business whereas national oil companies (NOCs) have much greater exposure. In Saudi Arabia the major oil and gas extraction company, Saudi Aramco, is owned by the government as is oil extraction and production in Iran, which means that these state-owned corporations and subsequently the governments would feel the direct impact of the war given any damages to physical assets. Globally, estimates show that state-owned corporations' control over 75% of oil fields with the remaining being controlled by private/public companies.⁷⁰ IOCs are becoming increasing interconnected with NOCs, operating as contractors to NOCs, providing technical and financial advice or even "end-to-end service on oil field development".⁷¹ Even if corporations do not have direct ties to the oil and gas fields, they are likely to be impacted by supply shortages. Further, IOCs will need to review their host governments

70 (Bremmer 2010)

^{68 (}Hendrix 2014)

^{69 (}Perlroth and Krauss 2018)

^{71 (}Graaff 2011; "Part 2: Relationships Changing as NOC, IOC Roles Evolve" 2007)

approach to the conflict zones where they operate. History has shown that a host government will support an IOC's extraneous activities only if it aligns with the interest of the host country's energy security strategy or foreign policy. The US government refused to support IOCs in preventing the nationalisation of energy assets in Mexico, Peru and Saudi Arabia in the 1960s and 70s due to foreign policy concerns.72

Moving out

Following heightened tensions, companies may determine to take precautions of moving their staff, families and equipment from the conflict zones to prevent any potential losses. They may put a hold on any active projects while they wait for the tensions to resolve. For already active operations, they work to enable remote operation of the equipment.

Issue profit warning

As oil prices can be influenced by escalating geopolitical tensions, some companies may see fit to issue profit warnings to inform investors that targets will be missed due to higher exploration expenses or changes in the oil price. This can help safeguard the company from missing profit expectations should the tensions not ease.

Post-event management

Assess losses

Research shows that armed conflicts are less likely to cause damage to existing oil or gas installations unless the conflict occurs next to the installation or sabotage was executed.73 Each side of the conflict desires to keep the energy assets intact so to use the revenue streams to support their military efforts. With that said, damage as of 2016 from armed conflicts both civil and interstate and well as terrorist activities is estimated to be 2 million barrels per day in the Middle East. 74

However, if the oil installations were targeted then the company will want to assess the level of damage and determine if it makes sense to continue operating in that country. Research shows that facilities that are damaged during war remain offline for extended periods of time and in some cases stay offline indefinitely. 75

Further research shows that armed conflicts do impact exploration or investment projects with companies reviewing the expected returns, and in some cases, abandoning projects altogether in the conflict countries. ⁷⁶ Prior to the annexation of Crimea in 2014, ExxonMobil was negotiating with Ukraine for access to oil and gas reserves

- 73 (Luciani 2011)
- 74 (Jaffe and Elass 2016)
- 75 (Jaffe and Elass 2016)
- 76 (Luciani 2011)

in the Black Sea.⁷⁷ Now that Russia has taken control of Crimea, they are having to negotiate with Russia.

Nationalisation

During conflict or shortly thereafter, countries have tended to nationalise energy assets. Controlling these assets means controlling the wealth of the country. However, many of these nationalised energy assets are still operated as joint ventures with IOCs, as the IOCs bring the technical expertise of oil exploration and production. In other cases, these nationalised energy assets subcontract out the needed expertise. Nationalised assets range from 50% to 100% ownership structures. Both Saudi Arabia and Iran have nationalised their energy assets.

Supply and export disruptions

More frequently we are seeing supply disruptions following conflicts. Our study reviewed 39 intrastate conflicts between 1965 and 2007 and found an average reduction in supply of 50% in the short term. ⁷⁸ Due to labour shortages, limited utilities, or direct government or rebel intervention, energy assets are not able to produce at the same capacity during conflicts.

Due to the nationalisation of oil reserves in the past 50 years, IOCs have moved more of their operations into downstream activities, like refining where they have increased capacity. During and immediately following a war, exports of key resources can be limited or completely restricted. This can have an impact on the entire downstream supply chain.

Oil price fluctuations

Oil price volatility is a consequence of disruptions following the war or a strategy during the war to harm opponents. "Saudi Arabia's ability to flood oil markets at will has also played a role in various efforts, including lowering oil prices to pressure Iran during its eight-year war with Iraq, to weaken the Soviet Union after its invasion of Afghanistan, and to ease the pressure on global markets ahead of the U.S. invasion of Iraq." 79 Figure 10 highlights several major disruptions and their impact on oil prices. Oil price volatility is a top concern from energy sector and geopolitical conflicts appear to be a great source of this volatility.

Figure 10: Oil Price Fluctuations and Key Historical Events Since 1951





The direct effect of rising oil prices is to slow the global economy though certain sectors such as oil and gas exploration may benefit and, likewise, the economies of oil exporting nations are somewhat hedged. Second order or cascading effects of rising fossil fuel prices include increasing trade deficits of net oil importing nations, and surpluses of net exporters.⁸⁰ This in turn pushes a weakening of exchange rates between oil importers and oil exporters which will then drive further shifts in national economies. Thus, an increase in energy prices may have complex effects on a downstream firm in the energy value chain well beyond an immediate increase in its cost base.

Following the war, should the oil price increase due to limited supplies, this will benefit the upstream segment and hurt the downstream segment, namely the oil refineries. Transportation costs will increase, thus reducing their operating margins and profitability of downstream companies. Integrated oil companies are likely to be hit on both ends and thus able to weather the storm. Should the oil price drop following the war due to oversupply from other countries, this will hurt the upstream segment as price realisation will be harder to hit and oilfield service

80 (Twin 2019)

77 (Klare 2014)

28

78 (Jaffe and Elass 2016)

companies are likely to not receive new orders for oil rigs and equipment. This was the case following the sharp decline in the oil from in 2014 from about \$100 per barrel to roughly \$40.81

Energy security

Depending on the severity of the impacts of the war on the oil economy, countries' energy security strategies may shift. Some countries may see the need to further diversify their oil supply to countries outside the Middle East or to even diversify the source of energy altogether. If the war and disruption is severe enough, countries may quickly transition to non-fossil fuels in an attempt to limit future disruptions, thus accelerating the transition to a low carbon economy.

81 (Grigoli, Herman, and Swiston, n.d.)

^{72 (}Vivoda 2010)

^{79 (}Jaffe and Elass 2016)



Scenario #2: Natural Catastrophe: Hurricane in the Gulf of Mexico

In this scenario we explore as a stress test, the potential impact to the industry from natural catastrophe events that could cause physical destruction to large numbers of high-value assets and lengthy disruption to major flows of oil production. By contrast, organisations which are downstream consumers of energy are typically land-based and less likely to have experienced climatic events as dramatic as those seen in offshore facilities exemplified by fossil fuel exploration and production in the Gulf of Mexico.

The risk from natural catastrophes is a constant one for energy operators in areas that are exposed to hurricanes, earthquakes, and severe weather. A number of the main extraction and processing regions of oil and gas are in hazard-prone areas. Some of the largest concentrations of offshore and onshore facilities are in the Gulf of Mexico, and this stress test scenario considers the potential impact on the energy industry from a severe hurricane tracking through the main concentrations of extraction and processing assets in the Gulf of Mexico, off the coastline of Louisiana.

The threat to the energy industry could result from a bad season of hurricanes in the Gulf. There have been years on record where multiple destructive hurricanes have made landfall along this coastline, from Galveston to Miami, impacting large numbers of energy assets in a period of a few months. The multi-decadal lifespan of these high-value extraction and production assets means that the industry needs to consider the potential patterns of natural threats to these facilities over a long term outlook.

One of the key projections of climate change is that the frequency and severity of hurricanes is likely to increase with warmer sea surface temperatures, and this pattern is likely to occur within the lifespan of these high-value facilities. In fact, this pattern of increased numbers of severe weather events is projected to occur in many parts of the world where energy companies have their upstream investments.

Although this scenario focuses on the Gulf of Mexico and the coastline of Louisiana as one example area of concentration of high value energy assets, there is the potential for unexpected increased risk of severe loss

occurrence to any assets in the hurricane-prone areas of the tropics and potentially in areas where historical experience of loss has been mild. Losses could also occur unexpectedly in northern latitudes from changing patterns of precipitation, floods, and extremes of temperature, both heatwaves and freeze events.

Energy companies are experienced in operating in hostile regions, and engineering of their facilities is typically robust to the environmental conditions and extremes to which they are exposed. They have standard operating procedures for minimising the impacts of an impending hurricane, for example, including operational shut-down, staff evacuation, and fail-safe processes. Energy companies routinely expect to experience low levels of damage and disruption from extreme weather conditions.

We explore an extreme case via a scenario of an extreme hurricane causing more loss than has been seen previously with a track and windfield directly passing through the major concentrations of oil production in the Gulf of Mexico. There have been many major hurricanes that have impacted the Gulf of Mexico. Figure 11 illustrates track patterns of hurricanes of CAT 1 and above since 1926 passing through the Gulf of Mexico. Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies has studied potential loss from extreme hurricanes in the Gulf of Mexico in previous research reports.⁸², ⁸³

Hurricane Harvey in 2017 was almost as costly as Hurricane Katrina. Extensive rainfall-related flooding added to the damage and disruption for energy companies. Distribution networks such as airports, roads and ports were seriously affected, suppressing oil, fuel and gas trade. Up to 30% of national processing capacity from refineries were taken offline along the coast for up to a week. Around 20% of the Gulf's production were shut for a short period but offshore platforms did not suffer from any severe damage. During the disruption, excess US crude and product inventories helped fill the gap.⁸⁴

- 82 (Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2018)
- 83 (Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2017)

Previous experiences in Katrina, Sandy and Gustav have pushed energy companies to fine-tune their emergency plans such as setting action thresholds in different scenarios and covering the spectrum of preparedness from strategic to tactical. What considerably improved from Katrina to Harvey was the preplanning put in place by individual energy companies as well as through industry-wide coordination. For instance, companies had "hardened" their critical assets and conducted multiple sets of training and simulations. As part of crisis management plan, they contracted with hotels and conference facilities outside risk-prone areas along with ad-hoc IT solutions to ensure personnel attendance and business continuity. The National Petroleum Council (NPC) helped regularly examine these plans and make recommendations that centred on industry efforts coordination along with federal and state assistance. Companies were permitted in advance for access to the Strategic Petroleum Reserve and other regulatory flexibilities in the event of a hurricane.⁸⁵

Figure 11: Historical Hurricane Paths through the Gulf of Mexico Since 1926



Source: Created by Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies using data from (NOAA 2018)

Scenario Applications: Stress Testing Companies in the Energy Value Chain

30

^{84 (}Jacobs 2017)

^{85 (}Ramchand and Krishnamoorti 2017)

Scenario narrative

The tropical storm forms in the Caribbean in late September that rapidly intensifies into a Category 4 hurricane. It tracks along a unique path straight through the densest concentration of major oil installations in the Gulf of Mexico and makes landfall through the onshore refineries, ports, and oil terminal infrastructure. The hurricane sees peak sustained winds of 160 mph (257 km/h), a maximum radius of 40 miles (64 km), and storm surge up to 6ft (1.8m). Heavy-rain flooding onshore causes further disruption. Onshore energy assets are plagued by power outages, property damage and societal interruptions exacerbating the impact to offshore recovery.

Evacuations are assumed to be successful in the standard scenario variant, but unsuccessful in the more extreme variants as the hurricane surprises the forecasters and arrives with unexpected intensity before standard hurricane preparedness measures are implemented. It takes 6 months for energy production to return to full capacity with environmental consequences and liability lasting for several years following the event.

Repopulation of the affected area takes up to two years as the vast majority is evacuated or displaced from vulnerable coastal areas prior to the hurricane's arrival. Fear of a repeated hurricane the following year slows the return of citizens to the area.

Pre-event mitigations

Energy is a necessary commodity – households, businesses and governments are ill-equipped for a sustained supply disruption. However, the energy sector is not immune from havoc wrought by a major hurricane in the Gulf with the potential to paralyse its production. Governments require that large energy companies hold minimum oil stocks proportional to their oil imports or domestic sales in crises of supply shortage. ⁸⁶

Corporations learn from precedent cases of hurricanes, in both a scientific and business sense, to modulate potential damages of similar natural disasters before they happen. An effective preventative control is established not only on meticulous technical modelling, but also on all-inclusive understanding of alternatives of mitigation tools to curb the direct and indirect impacts.

Business continuity plan

Energy value chain companies struggle to deliver continued value for shareholders in the short term, in contrast to the long term investments into a capital-intensive industry. The energy sector is reliant on the operations from drilling and production facilities at exposed locations. The risks to physical breakdowns, storm surges, flood and wind damages resulting from major hurricanes are accepted and managed accordingly. Large players in the sector such as

86 (International Energy Agency 2019)

Scenario Applications:

their site operations, select warning indicators and set action thresholds.

be risk aware and prepared.

Action may involve cross-company collaboration especially when companies' capabilities are restricted by the disaster in different aspects.⁸⁷ Putting a structured business continuity plan in place will hence help alleviate disruption to production and supply activities if a hurricane lands ashore. Such a plan is usually updated whenever a major catastrophic shock is documented. If emergency response is not prepared beforehand, energy supply shortage will lead to commodity price turbulence, exerting ripple effects on other industries or sectors.

the Super Major Companies have the scale and resources to

Executives are informed by engineers and project experts

within organisations of the vulnerabilities in site buildings

and facilities. They also turn to catastrophe risk analysts

probabilistically and deterministically. Energy companies

can use the metrics identified in these analytics to monitor

of insurers and reinsurers to assess their risk exposure

Pre-event mitigations for physical damage

Pre-event mitigation tools for physical damage range from building backup facilities to securing risk transfer. Post-event restoration of impaired facilities is usually actioned as soon as possible; however, building backup facilities in advance is usually a contentious decision in companies. Trade-offs are weighed between the benefits of escaping a production halt during disasters and the costs of maintaining idle capacity in normal times. To date, historical catastrophes have not been influential and frequent enough to justify such substantial new investments. Several executives of major energy companies have commented that even a six-month shutdown at a particular site is not considered a black swan. Instead, energy companies tend to strengthen scrutiny of their infrastructure and improve construction guidelines for increase their existing physical resilience in the first place.

Corporations also transfer potential disastrous loss by purchasing insurance or joining captives, but many do not regularly assess the adequacy of insurance in terms of limits, coverages etc. After Katrina hit in 2005, some of the insured, mainly commercial claimants, found that they were not covered for storm surge which was the main loss driver. Litigations went on for years regarding whether damage resulted from wind or water.⁸⁸ It is hence prudent to know what is protected ahead of time.

Opportunity is the flip side of risk. Energy executives see opportunities in trading after natural catastrophes such as hurricanes. While producers and insurers may bear losses, investing in stocks related to construction can

87 (Marsh 2015)

generate some compensations to minimise the hit from site destruction.⁸⁹ Saving flexibility in post-shock trading ability will constitute an important piece in pre-event mitigation planning.

Environmental and reputational concerns

Nonetheless, physical destruction seems a less worrying concern than environmental pollution and reputational impairment, as stated in their annual reports. The 2010 Deepwater Horizon oil spill and 2011 Fukushima Daiichi nuclear disaster after the Tōhoku earthquake and tsunami are two examples of serious events causing environmental damage. Environmental, health and socioeconomic impacts that followed the spill and radiation events put an enormous strain on reputation of the energy companies involved.

For environmental sensitivity, the energy sector would like to go beyond regular compliance to avoid general deterrence by investigation and penalty as well as to demonstrate corporate social responsibility that adds to their resilience in the face of unforeseeable environmental risk.⁹⁰ Energy companies recognise the importance of adaptation to climate change, and therefore incorporate emerging climate conditions and specific environmental concerns into the design of existing and new energy infrastructure.⁹¹ Due to the negative externality of environmental risk society-wide, it is monitored and mitigated preventatively under collaboration of companies and domestic and international regulators.

Handling speed is critical in tackling the reputational implication of environmental risk that would otherwise deplete trust in firms. Large energy companies pre-define a reputational crisis team including who will address any issues, ensure timeliness by conducting "fire drills" before an event, and accept full authority to act during crisis. ⁹²

Pre-event mitigations for employees

Natural disasters also present significant hazards to the onsite workers of energy companies. Failure to mitigate this risk dimension has calamitous implications on reputation in addition to costly casualty compensations. Educating employees about personal preparedness before catastrophes injects confidence within companies in dealing with emergency evacuations. Communicating to employees the existence of employer-sponsored support should hurricanes happen will significantly alleviate employee emotional strains and improve employee sentiment regarding their companies.93

89 (Rexaline 2018)

- 90 (Gunningham, Thornton, and Kagan 2005)
- 91 Climate change here refers to changing trends, more frequent and sever extremes and greater temporal variations in climate parameters in certain regions (Ebinger and Vergara 2011).
- 92 (Institute of Risk Management 2019)
- 93 (Sanchez, Korbin, and Viscarra 1995

Stress Testing Companies in the Energy Value Chain

32

Post-event management

Corresponding to pre-event mitigations, post-event management focuses on physical and humanitarian recovery. Top management of large energy companies have suggested that separate crisis management groups be organised to concentrate on recovery issues. On a national scale, recovery financing comes jointly from the government and the private sector, including government relief funding, private insurance, charitable donations and humanitarian aid.⁹⁴ Resources are used in reconstructing physical assets and providing tangible support to employees.

Asset integrity

Wherever the reconstruction funding is sourced, damage assessment is an early step required of forensic accountants. Energy companies will translate the performance decline into asset write-down, property damage, income loss and extra expense by monitoring three key performance indicators and others according to asset integrity guidelines.⁹⁵ By examining internal records such as fixed asset registers, purchase orders of contracts for repair or replacement, profits and loss statements for two years prior to the event, companies take control of the difficult situation early on, estimate acceptable level of damage as part of their risk appetites, and resume production metrics as quickly and safely as they can.⁹⁶

Employee safety

While informing employees of safety tips and available employer support before natural disasters is the first step, executing the emergency plan appropriately once they happen is central to post-event management. Protection of people needs to deal with not only the primary effects but also secondary and tertiary ones.⁹⁷ For example, hurricanes induce wind and rain damage primarily, followed by possible loss of electricity and running water on the asset. In the long run, they may result in permanent loss of habitat if the flooding is severe enough. An efficient start of ensuring safety is to provide employees with access to various effective communication methods to receive instructions and report their conditions in time. Emergency kits such as water and food are distributed from employers' prepared inventory stock.

Companies are obliged to offer accommodation to shelter as many affected workers as they can. Large energy companies also have the capability of assisting in filing personal insurance claims for employees whilst advising them how to talk to their children about the event – all such proactive measures will make employees feel they are being taken care of and hence improve their motivation to help the companies recover. Shell and its joint venture Motiva

95 (Oil & Gas UK 2018)

^{88 (}Allianz n.d.)

^{94 (}Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2018)

^{96 (}Marsh 2015)

^{97 (}EKU Online 2018)

were good examples for demonstrating humanitarian recovery after Hurricane Katrina. Apart from massive outreach via calls, messages, advertising, door-to-door inquiries etc. to ensure employee safety, they provided temporary housing, financial assistance and counselling support for relocated employees including those who suffered home damage. ⁹⁸ The companies further reached out to neighbouring communities by offering housing, fuel, operating space and employee voluntary work, which strongly boosted their reputation both locally and globally.

Collaborative communications

Communications have much broader scope than just within organisations in face of natural disasters. Rescue and recovery cooperation will be based on communications between companies and local or state entities that include regulators, police, hospitals and emergency agencies. This can efficiently limit the operational and financial losses where energy companies are largely exposed. Ad hoc liaison with media is important dimension for companies to be able to inform their shareholders and the public of the recovery progress, which helps establish corporate reputation in a challenging situation.

Strategic risk appetite

An increasing trend in the energy sector is that preevent mitigations and post-event management are not viewed as statically separate but dynamically integrated in strategic risk appetite of large companies. Because companies cannot make profits without assuming risks, they treat their emergency plans and execution power as necessary investments within their risk tolerance to achieve a well-thought strategic goal.⁹⁹ For instance, aware of potential hazards like hurricanes hitting the coasts, energy companies ask themselves strategic questions such as "should we operate in the Gulf?". To reach their expected return, companies invest in emergency plans and postevent toolkits to hedge the risks that they have taken on when making the strategic decision. In such case, dealing with natural catastrophes is not seen by energy companies as reactive loss prevention but an inherent project risk that they will have more incentives to proactively hedge. To facilitate the enforcement of this thought, executives believe that transparency - for example specification of dollar amounts at risk – can generate the initial push at the management level to take action.







Scenario #3: Liability Risk: Litigation Against Carbon Emissions

Companies across all sectors are considering their strategies around climate change. Climate change is likely to impact businesses in three distinct ways:

- Physical Risks ways that increases in extreme weather events might cause damage and disruption to business activities, supply chains and operations;
- Liability Risks how an organization's carbon emissions are contributing to the causes of climate change, potential implications of that, and the costs of plans to reduce emissions; and
- Transition Risks the potential impacts of society switching to a new lower-carbon economy.

For energy companies, the second issue of liability risks is likely to be of major significance. This scenario considers the potential liability dimension of mass torts and lawsuits being brought against companies in the energy value chain for historical and present contributions to climate change and seeking redress from harms being caused by climate change effects.

As climate change impacts take hold, we are seeing an increase in the number of climate change related lawsuits against oil companies and governments. The entire energy value chain is potentially subject to similar litigation, analogous to the current situation of litigation regarding opioid-related deaths in the United States. The scope of lawsuits against drug companies is widening rapidly to include healthcare providers and retail pharmacies. The likelihood of a successful claim of current or future climaterelated damages against the oil industry remains low, but the legal arguments in such cases are evolving, making a

large loss to the energy industry plausible. A database of US and non-US climate change related litigation has 1,477 court cases across 25 countries. ¹⁰⁰ The majority of the litigation is filed in the US, with Australia, the UK and New Zealand also having a large number of cases, see Figure 12 101

In terms of litigation against corporates, we are seeing State's Attorneys General and cities file lawsuits. New York and Massachusetts State's Attorneys General are investigating Exxon Mobil for alleged misrepresentation of financial exposure to climate change. The investigations started in 2016 and are still active today.

Using a public nuisance claim, several US cities, counties and states are seeking damages from major oil and gas suppliers. These cases are claiming current damages due to the impacts of severe weather and future losses from infrastructure improvements to fight against sea level rise. The legal arguments suggest that major energy companies knew about the harm posed by their products and continued to mislead the public by not highlighting the potential risk. Three of the cases brought in California and New York were moved to federal court, where the judge said that such issues should be handled by Congress and the President.102

A final strand of litigation aims at holding governments accountable for not meeting climate change targets. Our

^{100 (}Sabin Center for Climate Change Law at Columbia Law School and Arnold & Porter 2019d)

^{101 (}United Nations Environment Programme 2017)

^{102 (}Hasemyer 2019)

Children's Trust in 2015 filed lawsuits in nine US states against the federal government. The lawsuits argue that the government has a responsibility to protect the atmosphere just as they are meant to protect the land, water and fisheries based on the public trust doctrine.

Public trust doctrine cases are also being filed in Ukraine, Philippines and Pakistan.¹⁰³ Further actions against government stem from human rights bases litigation, which stipulates that citizens have a right to a clean environment and that governments are not doing enough to uphold these rights. For the first time in 2018, the InterAmerican Court of Human Rights ruled that citizens have a right to a healthy environment.¹⁰⁴ A final area of litigation against governments relates to policies not standing up to the Paris Agreement. For example, in the UK a group of citizens filed suit against the UK government for carbon emission targets that do not meet the Paris Agreement. ¹⁰⁵ A pivotal case in this area was Urgenda Foundation v. Kingdom of the Netherlands where the courts determined that the Dutch government must reduce the countries emissions by 25%. ¹⁰⁶ Accelerating the transition to electrical vehicles was an outcome of litigation against German municipalities in DUH v Land Baden-Württemberg which banned diesel cars from the city centres.¹⁰⁷ Although these cases name governments as defendants, it is important for corporates to monitor the outcomes as they have the potential to impact policy, laws and regulation.

Determining liability for climate change is challenging since the causal chain is very long. "Fossil fuel production is the beginning of a long chain of causation that includes numerous corporate actors and individual consumers, as well as government licensing and permitting schemes."108 Academic studies attempt to calculate the impact that fossil fuel companies have on emissions. They find that just 90 major firms are responsible for two thirds of the emissions and for 11 cm of the projected 17 cm sea level rise by 2040.¹⁰⁹ Given the large number of greenhouse gas (GHG) emitters, it will be challenging to prove that a given company is responsible for a given consequence or damage. Yet, in traditional product liability cases, the market share theory is commonly used to apportion responsibility.¹¹⁰ Lawsuits are already being filed to test the attribution claims, like Lliuva v. RWE AG. See Breakout Box A: Deep Dive into Climate Change Litigation, for more details.

- 104 (United Nations Environment Programme 2017)
- 105 (Nachmany and Setzer n.d.)
- 106 (de Wit and Quinton 2018; Cox 2016)
- 107 (Hodges, Leatherby, and Mehrotra 2018)
- 108 (Carrington 2018) 109 (Ekwurzel et al. 2017)
- 110 (United Nations Environment Programme 2017)

There are several avenues through which corporates can be held liable for climate change related risks. See Table 5 for a summary of possible challenges and remedies to the legal argument against corporates.

- **Product liability** since 2017 we are seeing more lawsuits against big oil companies using the legal argument that the industry has been marketing and selling products known to cause harm to the environment. This 'defective product' argument is similar that used in asbestos and tobacco litigation. The plaintiffs in these cases are claiming current and future damages.
- **Operations liability** there is a growing trend to cite scientific literature attributing GHGs to specific companies and connecting that to climate change impacts.
- Financial liability energy companies could be held liable for not correctly disclosing (i.e. misreporting or misrepresenting) the risk inherent in their assets. Shareholders could bring suits against the directors and officers (securities class actions) or against the board of directors (derivatives class action) for not disclosing the physical risks from extreme weather or the transitional risks from regulation. Attorney Generals can also investigate this issue. The US, UK, Australia and France all currently have disclosure requirements.¹¹¹

If lawsuits prove successful with major oil and gas firms, then are companies along the entire energy value chain also at risk and even users of the energy too? Where do we draw the line? Only time will be able to answer this question as litigation is evolves. Figure 12 shows a heat map of the count of climate change litigation globally both with governments or corporates as named defendants. Breakout Box A: A Deep Dive into Climate Change Litigation

The following is a selection of notable climate change litigation against energy companies.

Public Nuisance Claim

In City of Oakland v. BP p.l.c. city officials tried to show that several major oil companies had created a public nuisance while producing oil thus causing sea level rise. Oakland was seeking damages for the future cost for sea level defenses. The case was dismissed citing the precedent of American Electric Power Co. v. Connecticut and stating that it was Congress and the President's job to deal with such claims.¹¹²

Attribution Claim

In Lliuya v. RWE AG a Peruvian farmer whose livelihood and land are at threat of extreme flood or mudslide due to an increase in volume in the Palcacocho, a glacial lake in the mountains above where he lives and works. The plaintiffs is seeking compensation for the flood defenses that the farmer and local town have had to build. They are suing RWE, the biggest electricity utility in Germany, asking them to pay 0.47 % of the damages, as this is equivalent to the percentage of GHGs that RWE contribute annually. The court initially dismissed the case saying that there was no clear "linear causal chain" between the GHG emissions by RWE and the melting glacier. However, Lliuya won an appeal in late 2017 returning the case evidentiary stage. ¹¹³ This is the first climate change attribution case in Europe.

Breach of Human Rights Claim

In re Greenpeace Southeast Asia and Others numerous parties have petitioned the Commission on Human Rights in the Philippines to investigate whether the Oil Majors breached the human rights of the Filipino people to a clean and healthy environment. Filed in 2015, this case is still in the investigative stage. ¹¹⁴

Securities Class Action

Ramirez v. Exxon Mobil Corp. is a securities class action against Exxon Mobile for failure to disclose their climate related risks to investors. Filed in 2016 after Exxon Mobil disclosed that it would have to write down 20% of its oil and gas assets. The case argues that Exxon Mobil misrepresented its exposures. Plaintiffs won a big step forward in late 2018, when the motion to dismiss was denied.¹¹⁵ The SEC and State's Attorneys General have also investigated Exxon on the same issue.

112 (de Wit and Quinton 2018)

- 113 (Sabin Center for Climate Change Law at Columbia Law School and Arnold & Porter 2019b)
- 114 (Sabin Center for Climate Change Law at Columbia Law School and Arnold & Porter 2019a)
- 115 (Sabin Center for Climate Change Law at Columbia Law School and Arnold & Porter 2019c)

36

111 (de Wit and Quinton 2018)

Table 5: Legal arguments against corporates, challenges and potential remedies

Legal Arguments	Challenges	Potential Remedies		
Major GHG emitters such as oil and gas producers and utilities are responsible for any current and future damages from climate change	 Lack of clear causal chain linking the damages to the GHG emissions of defendant Climate change issues should be decided by laws and regulations and not the courts In the US, federal courts should hear the cases not state courts 	 o Changes in interpretation of casualty o Changes in attribution science o New or updated laws or regulations 		

Source: Adapted from (Simlinger and Mayer 2019)

^{103 (}United Nations Environment Programme 2017)

Figure 12: Geography of Climate Change Litigation



(Source: Sabin Center for Climate Change Law at Columbia Law School and Arnold & Porter 2019d).

Scenario narrative

After several minor wins against major oil companies as well as the advancement of attribution science, a major class action lawsuit is filed against the entire energy value chain stating that the named defendants are responsible for sea level rise, extreme weather events and marine damage based on their percentage contribution to global GHGs. The plaintiffs are asking for damages related to future sea level defense, protection against extreme weather events and loss of livelihood due to increased ocean acidification. Innovative legal arguments ensure the success of these lawsuits for the plaintiffs with precedents for the likely judgement amounts seen in the asbestos, tobacco and current opioid value chain litigation. In extreme variants of the scenario plaintiffs are also asking for changes to the business model of the major oil companies named, accelerating a transition to the low carbon economy. In this stress test, we assume that no master settlement agreement is reached in the extreme variant.

Pre-event mitigations

Improve reporting

Corporations have a duty to shareholders of the potential exposure to climate change risk and related litigation. The US, UK, Australia and France all currently have disclosure requirements concerning climate change.¹¹⁶ Reporting climate change more transparently and openly to investors will be key to limiting the exposure. The SEC requires companies to report on

116 (de Wit and Quinton 2018)

Scenario Applications: Stress Testing Companies in the Energy Value Chain the impacts of climate change in their annual reports.¹¹⁷ A multiindustry Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures formed by the Financial Stability Board (FSB) proposed a framework for reporting climate related exposures to "investors, lenders, insurers and other stakeholders". ¹¹⁸

Cash reserves

As a precaution to the potential for litigation, setting aside cash earmarked for future litigation can help mitigate any cash flow issues should a large settlement be awarded. These cash reserves can cover costs of lawyers, court fees, expert witnesses, and potential settlement payments.

Review insurance coverage

In some cases, general commercial liability (GCL) or Directors and Officers (D&O) insurance will not cover cases where companies and officers "knowingly" participated in an activity, usually focusing on negligence claims instead.¹¹⁹ This could leave a corporation particularly exposed for costs relating to defending climate change litigation as proving to an insurer that they did not know about the impacts of fossil fuels on climate change will be challenging. Reviewing the types of coverages already purchased and any potential gaps could limit the risk to the corporation, should they become a named defendant in a climate change lawsuit.

118 (Bloomberg 2017)

38

119 (de Wit and Quinton 2018)

Corporate social responsibility (CSR)

Engaging in more CSR activities can help limit the further impact of the negative litigation on a company's reputation. CSR activities can also help boost employee morale which can be impacted by reputational events.

Corporate procedures

Refining corporate process/procedures in regards to how climate change is addressed internally can limit the liability. For example, robust processes on environmental management internally have been shown to improve financial performance.¹²⁰

Rebalance investment portfolio

In addition to the potential litigation from climate change there is also risk for corporates with large investment portfolios or pension funds which are heavily invested in fossil fuel related assets. Should the transition to a lower carbon economy happen faster than planned then these portfolios will be exposed to signification risk. Changing investment portfolio strategies prior to any trial outcome could be a helpful hedging strategy.

Change investment strategies

Evaluate broader strategic investment strategies to support business model changes towards renewable and clean energy production. This could include growing a division within a company to develop longer term technologies by allocating larger investments, entering joint ventures, acquiring new technology companies. Changes may be wider than changing source or production but include energy services.

Post-event management

Financial costs of defending litigation

Large settlements or judgements in climate change related litigation has not been the trend, but evolving legal arguments are increasing the chance of a large payout, especially arguments that focus on management decisions, investment strategies and attribution claims. For energy companies caught off guard, they may need to reprioritise capital projects in order to prevent liquidity issues. Access to credit may get more difficult going forward because of either credit downgrades or changes in lending or investing guidelines for banks or investors.

Reputational damage

Climate change litigation can bring negative media attention on companies, potentially having an impact on the firm's reputation. Direct impacts range from revenue loss due to customer churn or loss of future customers, increased advertising costs in an attempt to retain these customers, loss of key personnel, increased hiring costs and potentially stock price impacts. Implementing additional CSR activities post event may limit the impact of reputational damage.

Disruption to operations

If the verdict of this ligation involves changes to the way the defendants operate such as bringing their GHGs emissions into a certain range or sweeping business model changes, then companies may need to limit or stop operations altogether. This will cause an increase in operating costs to implement. Some unexplored assets may become stranded if the verdicts require the companies to meet adjusted targets for emissions. Energy is a key resource for the economy, so governments may step in to limit liability.

Lobbying activities

Following a large settlement or judgement, companies in many sectors increase lobbying activities such that they can encourage the governments to draft legislation to limit their liabilities. For American firms, the lobbying intensity – expenditures as a percentage of their assets – when compared to their stock price has consistently outperformed the S&P 500 since 2002.¹²¹ Past return on investment of lobbying may not be similarly realised given the macroeconomic forces which are already in play and are propelling world economies to transition to renewable energies.

121 (Economist 2011)

^{117 (}Gelles 2016; Kahn 2017)

^{120 (}Gunathilaka, Gunawardana, and Pushpakumari 2015)

Section 5: Conclusions

Summary of Qualitative Findings for Selected Scenarios

This report uses three scenario stress tests to take a risk perspective of organisations in the energy value chain which are focussed on producing hydrocarbons in the upstream, or are heavy downstream consumers of carbon-based inputs. Energy value chain companies are dispersed throughout the energy, materials, industrials, and utilities GICS sectors.

All three scenarios are represented as shocks, with a representative event that causes a loss or disruption that can be used as a stress test:

- Scenario #1: Geopolitical Crisis: Middle East Conflict
- Scenario #2: Natural Catastrophe: Hurricane in the Gulf of Mexico
- Scenario #3: Liability Risk: Litigation Against Carbon Emissions

These scenarios have considerably different features, from regional physical impacts to legal liability and reputation. Each scenario can also represent an important trend. A number of indices including the Cambridge Global Risk Index¹²² suggest that geopolitical risks are increasing in general as the world becomes more volatile, so events such as Scenario #1 may occur more frequently. Climate scientists forecast that global anthropogenic warming is likely to result in increasing frequency of severe weather phenomena, a trend that may already be visible today, increasing the likelihood of events such as Scenario #2. Scenario #3 is representative of changing social attitudes, a trend which drives changes in regulation and case law for litigation, so may also represent an area of emerging risk for the energy value chain.

Next, we summarise qualitative findings across these scenario stress tests. Then we look to current and future developments regarding quantifying impacts of stress tests by proposing a notional balance sheet analysis, and a broad view of challenges and opportunities in operational and strategic risk management.

Summarising across Scenarios #1, #2 and #3, five themes emerge from the qualitative risk analysis of the energy value chain. These relate to operations, information, financials, reputation and organisational structure, as summarised in Table 7. Planning and investing to respond to trends that might pose strategic threats and opportunities is an area for further exploration.

Table 7: Cross Cutting Themes from Risk Analysis of Scenarios #1, #2 and #3

Themes	Commentary on Themes from Ri
Operations	Business continuity and remote ma capability and emergency response staff. For example, environmental of response capability in the Environm Preparatory investments include cri situations, maintaining inventory to possibility of strengthening facilitie collaborative mitigations between of communications and access to hou ees. Similar concerns are relevant to are withdrawn from affected sites of site in a given period is significant in
Information, internal reporting and external transparency	Information on the activities of a controphe remediations from operation relations, and staff information and sures to markets is important as a startion and asset devaluation in the management in the form of timely is highlighted in the Geopolitical Con- sessment of firms' vulnerabilities, o
Financials	Finances are relevant in all three sc are particularly well suited to recom and Geopolitics scenarios, and to o Governance scenario. Cash, though ity. A heavily capitalised balance sh of post-crisis opportunities, for exar event has hurt its market valuation portfolio is flexible in the short and
Reputation	Reputational damage is key in the opacts of Geopolitical Conflict or Env "force majeure" or "act of God" white able".
Organisational Struc- ture	A firm's structure – as exemplified i of vertical integration – matters to a diversified operational footprint. equally to Environment scenarios; i legal jurisdictions are often regiona

isk Analysis

onitoring of operations play a significant role in pre-event e particularly with regard to physical threats to sites and and worker health and safety concerns are key to emergency nental disaster scenario.

isis management processes, training staff for emergency o manage outages on a scale of weeks if not months, and the es or considering back-up facilities. Beyond intra-firm activities, a firm and local communities are identified, for example, in using and essential services, the latter particularly for employo the Geopolitical scenario in which workforce populations and communities, though the chance of not returning to a n a conflict situation.

company or its partners feature across the gamut of catasns to regulatory disclosures, market announcements, public d coordination. Voluntary reporting as part of regular disclostep toward understanding potential exposure to both civil Environment scenario assessment. Post-event information announcements to financial markets and other stakeholders onflict scenario assessment. Other themes of note include asperational performance metrics, and risk appetite.

cenarios. Insurance policies guarantee access to funds and npensing damage to physical assets in the Environment ther specific types of exposure such as litigation costs in the expensive to hold, has obvious attraction due to its fungibilneet offers the flexibility to self-insure and to take advantage mple, buying stocks in or acquiring a company where the but not its business pipeline. The composition of a financial long terms.

Governance scenario but not top-of-mind in assessing imvironment scenarios. The latter two scenarios have a sense of ich is consistent with discounting events that are "unforesee-

in national subsidiaries, global functions, and the possibility exposure and also to reducing impact of regional events via This is noted with regard to Geopolitical Conflict and applies t also applies to the Governance scenarios in the sense that

^{122 (}Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies 2019)

Reflections and Future Vision

A quantitative analysis may consider how these scenarios will impact the balance sheet of energy companies and organizations in the energy value chain. Each scenario will impact the balance sheet of individual companies differently, depending on how much exposure they have to the risks represented by these scenarios, for example how much of their output and assets are in the geographical regions affected in these scenarios. Figure 13 shows a relativity of loss to different elements of a business' five year cashflow, if these scenarios were to occur to a notional company that has exposure to these scenarios. In this figure we consider the lost output value, relative to additional operating and non-operating costs that would be incurred by the business, and also the decrease in working capital, and increase in capital expenditure that would ensue. This primarily illustrates the qualitative differences of impact of each of these emerging risks on various parts of a balance sheet.

The effects of the conflict scenario are largely felt in the reduction in output value, with lost output from the Middle East region, and a significant increase in capital expenditure required for replacement and reinvestment elsewhere. This assessment ignores the increase in revenue that would be generated to an energy company from the rising price of energy from its operations elsewhere as a result of the war in the Middle East. The natural catastrophe scenario principally results in increases in operating cost, decreased working capital, and increased capital expenditure. The output loss as a proportion of the total cost of the event is not expected to compare to output losses from Scenario #1, where regional conflict reduces output for lengthy periods over a wide area. The third scenario, litigation liability, results in very significant payouts in settlements and legal fees, which are treated as additional non-operating costs on a business balance sheet and has a moderate impact on output and additional operating cost as a proportion of the total 1055

Figure 13: Balance Sheet Impacts from Cambridge Scenarios



Source: Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies

A broader reflection encompasses several points. First, financial tools including insurance are not seen as a replacement for business continuity and other operational planning and response capabilities when dealing with catastrophic events. Beyond cash flow issues or repair and recovery costs of a catastrophe, the strategic imperative is to retain or even grow your customer base. Maintenance of brand value including operational performance is important for the future health of any business.

Second, information, whether internal to the organisation as used in process monitoring and risk assessment, or external such as voluntary disclosure, is key to managing operational risks including public relations in times of acute crisis. Information transparency is also crucial to engaging in the public domain on emerging risks. An early milestone facing a firm on the road to greater transparency is articulation of its risk appetite within the context of the business activities that deliver its value proposition to its customers. Assessing whether a firm is within a quantified risk appetite is challenging but should be considered as a goal, even for risk types where events of significance are highly unpredictable.

Despite the unpredictability of the three types of scenarios considered, the Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies views all three types as foreseeable in the sense that their history of frequency and severity provides some basis for estimating future frequency and severity, while underlining that the time of arrival and severity of any particular event is unpredictable. Put simply, unpredictability is not an excuse for lack of preparation: unpredictable events can be foreseen in terms of their risks, as indicated in the notional balance sheet risk assessment in Figure 13. This is at the heart of the wide and continuing push for companies, as well as governmental agencies and not-forprofit organisations, to declare their risk exposures similar to the way they would declare asset values.

Third, emerging risk is not a focus of Table 7, which has an operational and crisis response focus and reflects the shock nature of the stress test scenarios. Emerging risks may be less visible but arguably equally important to longer term viability of an organisation. For those parts of the energy value chain which embed fossil fuel production and consumption, the trends of physical climate change and climate transition both pose strategic risks - risks to the business model of those organisations. The general topic of creeping change and associated response is a subject of ongoing development in the regulatory, commercial and risk research arenas.

Finally, financial and governance structures play a role in both risk exposure and in assessing and mitigating risks. A clearer picture of the link between the structure of a public company, its risk exposures and its meaningful mitigations is an ambition.

This report focuses on three disparate stress test scenarios to gualitatively explore the exposure and response of the energy value chain to shocks in the business and social environment. A deeper study could expand the analysis by increasing the number and type of risk scenarios, including of emerging

risks. The outputs would be a set of empirical or modelled data to quantify business impacts including the chance of an organisation exceeding its risk appetite thresholds in any given period. The broader vision is to produce standardised evaluation processes that allow business consequences across a comprehensive library of risk scenarios to be compared. Aggregating across all scenarios is the foundation for a transparent cost-benefit approach to managing risk appetite and resilience for an organisation.

Bibliography

- Abdo, et al. 2017. "The Sunni-Shia Divide." June 11, 2017. https://www.cfr.org/sunnishia.
- Allianz. n.d. "Lessons Learned from Hurricane Katrina." Expert Risk Articles (blog). Accessed January 17, 2019. https://www.agcs.allianz.com/insights/expert-riskarticles/lessons-learned-from-hurricane-katrina/.
- "Banking in the Low Carbon Economy." n.d. Page. Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership. Accessed January 30, 2019. https://www.cisl.cam. ac.uk/business-action/sustainable-finance/bankingenvironment-initiative/programme/banking-lowcarbon.
- BBC News. 2019. "Climate Protests: Marches Worldwide against Global Warming," September 20, 2019. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-49777279.
- Bchir, Mohamed Hedi, and Jose Antonio Pedrosa-Garcia. 2015. "Chapter 3: The Impact of the 2014 Oil Shock on Arab Economies." In ESCWA's Survey of Economics and Social Development, 27.
- Blackwill, Robert D., and Jennifer M. Harris. 2017. "War by Other Means — Robert D. Blackwill, Jennifer M. Harris | Harvard University Press." 2017. http://www.hup. harvard.edu/catalog.php?isbn=9780674979796.
- Bloomberg, Michael. 2017. "Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures." Final Report.
- BP plc. 2019. "BP Energy Outlook 2019 Edition." https:// www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/business-sites/en/ global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/energyoutlook/bp-energy-outlook-2019.pdf.
- Bremmer, Ian. 2010. "The Long Shadow of the Visible Hand." Wall Street Journal, May 22, 2010, sec. Life and Style. https://www.wsj.com/articles/SB100014240527 48704852004575258541875590852
- Burchardt, Jens, Philipp Gerbert, Stefan Schönberger, Patrick Herhold, and Christophe Brognaux. 2018. "The Economic Case for Combating Climate Change." BCG Henderson Institute. https://www.bcg.com/en-gb/ publications/2018/economic-case-combating-climatechange.aspx.
- Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies. 2015. "Unhedgeable Risk: How Climate Change Sentiment Impacts Investors." https://www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/fileadmin/ user_upload/research/centres/risk/downloads/crsunhedgeable-risk.pdf.

- -. 2018a. "Challenges and Solutions for Enterprise Exposure Management." Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies at the University of Cambridge Judge Business School, in collaboration with Risk Management Solutions. https://www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/faculty-research/ centres/risk/publications/multi-threat/challenges-andsolutions-for-enterprise-exposure-management/.
- -. 2018b. "Risk Management Perspectives of Global Corporations." Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies at the University of Cambridge Judge Business School, in collaboration with Institute of Risk Management. https://www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/faculty-research/centres/ risk/publications/finance-economics-and-trade/riskmanagement-perspectives-of-global-corporations/.
- -. 2018c. "Disaster Recovery Case Studies, US 2005 Storms: Katrina, Rita, and Wilma." Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies at the University of Cambridge Judge Business School, in collaboration with AxaXL. https:// www.ibs.cam.ac.uk/fileadmin/user_upload/research/ centres/risk/downloads/crs-case-study-hurricanekatrina.
- -. 2019a. "Global Risk Index 2019 Executive Summary." https://www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/fileadmin/ user_upload/research/centres/risk/downloads/crsglobal-risk-index-exec-summary-2019.pdf.
- -. 2019b. "Cyber Risk Outlook." Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies at the University of Cambridge Judge Business School, in collaboration with Risk Management Solutions. https://www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/ faculty-research/centres/risk/publications/space-andtechnology/cyber-risk-outlook-2019/.
- -. 2017. "Impacts of Severe Natural Catastrophes on Financial Markets." Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies at the University of Cambridge Judge Business School, in collaboration with Munich Re. https://www.jbs. cam.ac.uk/faculty-research/centres/risk/publications/ natural-catastrophe-and-climate/impacts-of-severenatural-catastrophes-on-financial-markets/.
- "Carbon Tax Center Pricing Carbon Efficiently and Equitably." n.d. Carbon Tax Center. Accessed January 31, 2019. https://www.carbontax.org/.
- Carrington, Damian. 2018. "Can Climate Litigation Save the World?" The Guardian, March 20, 2018, sec. Environment. https://www.theguardian.com/ environment/2018/mar/20/can-climate-litigationsave-the-world.

- Centre for the Protection of National Infrastructure. 2018. "Critical National Infrastructure." 2018. https://www. cpni.gov.uk/critical-national-infrastructure-0.
- Chan, Sewell. 2016. "Cyberattacks Strike Saudi Arabia, Harming Aviation Agency." The New York Times, January 12, 2016, sec. World. https://www.nytimes. com/2016/12/01/world/middleeast/saudi-arabiashamoon-attack.html.
- Citi. 2019. "Energy Darwinism III: The Electrifying Path to Net Zero Carbon." Citi GPS: Global Perspectives & Solutions. https://ir.citi.com/Mix2nk7TAOYRwYD7Xaep oJgKuIlbgh3tH9f7J9A%2BV6%2B6D%2FHthybMO oSFWoQYW4BHHKLXt3NMAdc%3D.
- "Climate Action 100+." n.d. Climate Action 100+. Accessed January 31, 2019. https://climateaction100. wordpress.com/.
- Colgan, Jeff D. 2014. "Oil, Domestic Politics, and International Conflict." Energy Research & Social Science 1 (March): 198-205. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.erss.2014.03.005.
- Cox, Roger. 2016. "A Climate Change Litigation Precedent: Urgenda Foundation v The State of the Netherlands." Journal of Energy & Natural Resources Law 34 (2): 143-63. https://doi.org/10.1080/02646811.2016.11 47887.
- Dalay, Galip. 2018. "Turkey in the Middle East's New Battle Lines." Brookings (blog). May 20, 2018. https://www. brookings.edu/opinions/the-middle-easts-new-battlelines/.
- Deloitte. n.d. "The Risk Intelligent Energy Company." Issue No.7. Risk Intelligence Series. Accessed January 21, 2019. https://www2.deloitte.com/global/en/ pages/governance-risk-and-compliance/articles/riskintelligent-energy-company.html.
- Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy. 2018. "Coal Generation in Great Britain: The Pathway to a Low-Carbon Future." GOV.UK. January 5, 2018. https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/coalgeneration-in-great-britain-the-pathway-to-a-lowcarbon-future.
- DNI. 2019. "Worldwide Threat Assessment 2019." January 29, 2019. https://www.politico.com/f/?id=00000168-9a0d-dc7b-a36e-ff0fa2050001.

44

- Donovan, John, 2005, "Shell and Motiva Account for All Employees Impacted By Hurricane Katrina." Royal Dutch Shell Plc .Com (blog). September 14, 2005. https://royaldutchshellplc.com/2005/09/15/shelland-motiva-account-for-all-employees-impacted-byhurricane-katrina/.
- Dragos. 2017. "TRISIS-01.Pdf." 2017. https://dragos.com/ wp-content/uploads/TRISIS-01.pdf.
- Ebinger, Jane, and Walter Vergara. 2011. Climate Impacts on Energy Systems. World Bank Studies. The World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-0-8213-8697.
- Economist. 2011. "Money and Politics," October 1, 2011. https://www.economist.com/finance-andeconomics/2011/10/01/money-and-politics.
- Economist Intelligence Unit. 2015. "The Cost of Inaction: Recognising the Value at Risk from Climate Change," 2015. https://eiuperspectives.economist.com/sites/ default/files/The % 20cost % 20of % 20inaction 0.pdf.
- EKU Online. 2018. "Occupational Safety In Natural Disasters." EKU Online (blog). February 23, 2018. https://safetymanagement.eku.edu/blog/ occupational-safety-in-natural-disasters/.
- Ekwurzel, B., J. Boneham, M. W. Dalton, R. Heede, R. J. Mera, M. R. Allen, and P. C. Frumhoff. 2017. "The Rise in Global Atmospheric CO2, Surface Temperature, and Sea Level from Emissions Traced to Major Carbon Producers." Climatic Change 144 (4): 579-90. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10584-017-1978-0.
- European Environment Agency. 2018. "Share of Renewable Energy in Gross Final Energy Consumption." https:// www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/indicators/ renewable-gross-final-energy-consumption-4/ assessment-3.
- Forbes. n.d. "The World's Largest Public Companies." Forbes. Accessed December 10, 2018. https://www.forbes. com/global2000/list/.
- Fratzscher, Marcel, Daniel Schneider, and Ine Van Robays. 2014. "Oil Prices, Exchange Rates and Asset Prices." European Central Bank, Working Paper Series, no. 1689 (July). https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/pdf/ scpwps/ecbwp1689.pdf.

- Gelles, David. 2016. "S.E.C. Is Criticized for Lax Enforcement of Climate Risk Disclosure." The New York Times, January 23, 2016, sec. Energy & Environment. https:// www.nytimes.com/2016/01/24/business/energyenvironment/sec-is-criticized-for-lax-enforcement-ofclimate-risk-disclosure.html.
- Global Fire Power. 2018a. "2018 Iran Military Strength." 2018. https://www.globalfirepower.com/countrymilitary-strength-detail.asp?country_id=iran.

——. 2018b. "2018 Saudi Arabia Military Strength." 2018. https://www.globalfirepower.com/countrymilitary-strength-detail.asp?country_id=saudi-arabia.

Graaff, Naná De. 2011. "A Global Energy Network? The Expansion and Integration of Non-Triad National Oil Companies." Global Networks 11 (2): 262–83. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0374.2011.00320.x.

Grigoli, Francesco, Alexander Herman, and Andrew Swiston. n.d. "A Crude Shock: Explaining the Impact of the 2014-16 Oil Price Decline Across Exporters." IMF Workding Paper. https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rc t=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=15&cad=rja&uact= &&ved=2ahUKEwjBxdSbhKLgAhUuQxUIHe0mCogQF jAOegQIBhAC&url=https % 3A % 2F % 2Fwww.imf.org % 2F~% 2Fmedia % 2FFiles % 2FPublications % 2FWP % 2F2017 % 2Fwp17160.ashx&usg=AOvVaw3meU_ CDFBUsZ6urbLReyC-.

Gujba, Haruna, Steve Thorne, Yacob Mulugetta, Kavita Rai, and Youba Sokona. 2012. "Financing Low Carbon Energy Access in Africa." Energy Policy, Universal access to energy: Getting the framework right, 47 (June): 71–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enpol.2012.03.071.

Gunathilaka, L. F. D. Z., Kennedy Gunawardana, and M. D. Pushpakumari. 2015. "An Impact of Environmental Practices on Financial Performance: A Literature Review." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2699776. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. https://papers. ssrn.com/abstract=2699776.

Gunningham, Neil A., Dorothy Thornton, and Robert A. Kagan. 2005. "Motivating Management: Corporate Compliance in Environmental Protection Special Issue on Regulation and Business Behavior." Law & Policy 27: 289–316.

- Halliday, Josh. 2018. "28,000 Jobs at Risk in North of England over Low-Carbon Economy." The Guardian, October 21, 2018, sec. UK news. https://www. theguardian.com/uk-news/2018/oct/22/28000-jobsat-risk-in-north-of-england-over-low-carbon-economy.
- Hamilton, Kirk. 2017. "Economic Co-Benefits of Reducing CO2 Emissions Outweigh the Cost of Mitigation for Most Big Emitters." November 2017. http://www.lse. ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/news/economic-co-benefitsof-reducing-co2-emissions-outweigh-the-cost-ofmitigation-for-most-big-emitters/.

Hasemyer, David. 2019. "Fossil Fuels on Trial: Where the Major Climate Change Lawsuits Stand Today." InsideClimate News. January 6, 2019. https:// insideclimatenews.org/news/04042018/climatechange-fossil-fuel-company-lawsuits-timeline-exxonchildren-california-cities-attorney-general.

Hendrix, Cullen S. 2014. "Oil Prices and Interstate Conflict Behavior." SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi. org/10.2139/ssrn.2474642.

Hodges, Jeremy, Lauren Leatherby, and Kartikay Mehrotra. 2018. "Climate Change Warriors' Latest Weapon of Choice Is Litigation," May 24, 2018. https://www. bloomberg.com/graphics/2018-climate-changelawsuits/.

Hoffman. 2018. "Al-Qaeda's Resurrection." Council on Foreign Relations. June 3, 2018. https://www.cfr.org/ expert-brief/al-qaedas-resurrection.

Hope, Bradley, and Nicole Friedman. 2018. "Climate Change Is Forcing the Insurance Industry to Recalculate." Wall Street Journal, October 2, 2018. https://www.wsj.com/graphics/climate-changeforcing-insurance-industry-recalculate/.

HSBC. 2016. "HSBC Statement on Climate Change." file:///C:/Users/Michelle % 20Tuveson/ Downloads/161102-hsbc-statement-on-climatechange-oct16.pdf.

Institute of Risk Management. 2019. "Fuelling the Debate: Latest Risk Management Trends in the Energy Sector 2019."

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 2013. "Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis." http://www.climatechange2013.org/images/report/ WG1AR5_ALL_FINAL.pdf. ——. 2018. "Global Warming of 1.5 oC —." https://www. ipcc.ch/sr15/.

International Energy Agency. 2018. "International Energy Agency World Energy Outlook 2018." https://www.iea. org/weo2018/scenarios/.

 2019. "Responding to Major Supply Disruptions." International Energy Agency. 2019. https://www.iea.org/topics/energysecurity/ respondingtomajorsupplydisruptions/.

- IPCC. 2018. "Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5oC." https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/.
- Iran Action Group, U.S. Department of State. 2018. "Outlaw Regime: A Chronicle of Iran's Destructive Activities." 2018. https://www.state.gov/documents/ organization/286410.pdf.
- Jacobs, Justin. 2017. "Hurricane Harvey's Energy Impact." Petroleum Economist, August 29, 2017. https://www. petroleum-economist.com/articles/politics-economics/ north-america/2017/hurricane-harveys-energyimpact.
- Jaffe, Amy Myers, and Jareer Elass. 2016. "War and the Oil Price Cycle." JIA SIPA. January 1, 2016. https://jia.sipa. columbia.edu/war-oil-price-cycle.
- Jäger-Waldau, Arnulf. 2017. "PV Status Report 2017." JRC Science For Policy Report. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. https://ec.europa.eu/ jrc/sites/jrcsh/files/kjna28817enn.pdf.
- Johnson et al. 2017. "Attackers Deploy New ICS Attack Framework 'TRITON' and Cause Operational Disruption to Critical Infrastructure « Attackers Deploy New ICS Attack Framework 'TRITON' and Cause Operational Disruption to Critical Infrastructure." FireEye. December 14, 2017. https://www.fireeye.com/ blog/threat-research/2017/12/attackers-deploy-newics-attack-framework-triton.html.
- Kahn, Matthew E. 2017. "Requiring Companies to Disclose Climate Risks Helps Everyone." Harvard Business Review. February 16, 2017. https://hbr.org/2017/02/ requiring-companies-to-disclose-climate-risks-helpseveryone.
- Katzman, Kenneth. 2019a. "Iran's Foreign and Defense Policies," January, 70.
- ——. 2019b. "Qatar: Governance, Security, and U.S. Policy," November, 27.

46

- Katzman, Kenneth, and Christopher M. Blanchard. 2017. "Qatar and Its Neighbors: Disputes and Possible Implications," June, 3.
- Kirkpatrick, David D., and Sheera Frenkel. 2017. "Hacking in Qatar Highlights a Shift Toward Espionage-for-Hire." The New York Times, December 22, 2017, sec. World. https://www.nytimes.com/2017/06/08/world/ middleeast/qatar-cyberattack-espionage-for-hire.html.
- Klare, Michael T. 2014. "Twenty-First Century Energy Wars: How Oil and Gas Are Fuelling Global Conflicts." Energy Post (blog). July 15, 2014. https://energypost.eu/ twenty-first-century-energy-wars-oil-gas-fuellingglobal-conflicts/.
- Kleiner, Art. 2003. "The Man Who Saw the Future." Strategy+business, Spring 2003. https://www.strategybusiness.com/article/8220?gko=4447f.
- Kynge, James, Chris Campbell, Amy Kazmin, and Farhan Bokhari. 2017. "How China Rules the Waves." December 1, 2017. https://ig.ft.com/sites/china-ports.
- Leiserowitz, A, E Maibach, S Rosenthal, J Kotcher, M Ballew, M Goldberg, and A Gustafson. 2018. "Climate Change in the American Mind." Yale University and George Mason University. https://climatecommunication.yale. edu/publications/climate-change-in-the-americanmind-december-2018/.
- Linden, Ronald H. 2018. "China Is Buying Up Ports and Influence Across Europe." Text. The National Interest. June 10, 2018. https://nationalinterest.org/feature/ china-buying-ports-influence-across-europe-26210.
- "Low-Carbon Economy." 2019. In Wikipedia. https:// en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Low-carbon_ economy&oldid=880498042.
- Luciani, Giacomo. 2011. "Armed Conflicts and Security of Oil and Gas Supplies." SSRN Electronic Journal. https:// doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1898630.
- Mai, T, D Sandor, R Wiser, and T Schneider. 2012. "Renewable Electricity Futures Study: Executive Study." National Renewable Energy Laboratory. http://www. nrel.gov/analysis/re_futures/.
- Marsh. 2015. "10 Years After Hurricane Katrina: Lessons in Preparedness, Response, and Resilience." Insights. https://www.marsh.com/us/insights/research/katrinalessons-in-risk-management-and-resiliency.html.

Masnadi, Mohammad S., Hassan M. El-Houjeiri, Dominik Schunack, Yunpo Li, Jacob G. Englander, Alhassan Badahdah, Jean-Christophe Monfort, et al. 2018. "Global Carbon Intensity of Crude Oil Production." Science 361 (6405): 851–53. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.aar6859.

McKinsey & Company. 2019. "Global Energy Perspective 2019: Reference Case." https://www.mckinsey. com/~/media/McKinsey/Industries/Oil % 20and % 20 Gas/Our % 20Insights/Global % 20Energy % 20 Perspective % 202019/McKinsey-Energy-Insights-Global-Energy-Perspective-2019_Reference-Case-Summary.ashx.

Mercure, J.-F., H. Pollitt, J. E. Viñuales, N. R. Edwards, P. B. Holden, U. Chewpreecha, P. Salas, I. Sognnaes, A. Lam, and F. Knobloch. 2018. "Macroeconomic Impact of Stranded Fossil Fuel Assets." Nature Climate Change 8 (7): 588. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0182-1.

Mooney, Attracta. 2018. "Cambridge Investment Chiefs Quit University Endowment Fund." Financial Times, September 14, 2018. https://www.ft.com/ content/04ca3992-b755-11e8-b3ef-799c8613f4a1.

Nace, Trevor. 2018. "Trump Administration Stands Alone As The Rest Of The G20 Pledges To Fight Climate Change." Forbes, December 4, 2018. https://www. forbes.com/sites/trevornace/2018/12/04/trump-imtoo-intelligent-to-believe-in-climate-change-as-hestands-alone-against-global-alliance/#13c02ee83c4a.

Nachmany, Michal, and Joana Setzer. n.d. "Global Trends in Climate Change Legislation and Litigation: 2018 Snapshot." Accessed February 4, 2019. http://www.lse. ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/publication/global-trendsin-climate-change-legislation-and-litigation-2018snapshot/.

Naff, Thomas. 1985. "Gulf Security and the Iran-Iraq War:" Fort Belvoir, VA: Defense Technical Information Center. https://doi.org/10.21236/ADA229581.

NASA Global Climate Change. n.d. "The Causes of Climate Change." https://climate.nasa.gov/causes/.

National Oceanic and Atmostpheric Administration. 2019. "2018 Was 4th Hottest Year on Record for the Globe," February 6, 2019. https://www.noaa.gov/news/2018was-4th-hottest-year-on-record-for-globe. Newburger, Emma. 2019. "'Capitalism Needs to Evolve': Businesses Close and Employees Walk out for Global Climate Strike." CNBC, September 20, 2019. https:// www.cnbc.com/2019/09/20/global-climate-strikefacebook-amazon-and-twitter-workers-walk-out.html.

NOAA. 2018. "IBTrACS - International Best Track Archive for Climate Stewardship." https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/ ibtracs/index.php?name=ibtracs-data.

Nohria, Nitin. 2010. "Column: Wealth and Jobs: The Broken Link." Harvard Business Review. https://hbr. org/2010/11/column-wealth-and-jobs-the-broken-link.

Oil & Gas UK. 2018. "Asset Integrity." Oil & Gas UK. 2018. https://oilandgasuk.co.uk/assetintegrity/.

Oxford Energy Forum. 2018. "The Future of Gas." Issue 116. https://www.oxfordenergy.org/wpcms/wp-content/ uploads/2018/09/OEF-116.pdf.

"Part 2: Relationships Changing as NOC, IOC Roles Evolve." 2007. Oil&Gas Journal. April 2, 2007. https://www. ogj.com/articles/print/volume-105/issue-13/generalinterest/part-2-relationships-changing-as-noc-iocroles-evolve.html.

Perlroth, Nicole. 2012. "Cyberattack on Saudi Oil Firm Disquiets U.S." The New York Times, October 23, 2012, sec. Global Business. https://www.nytimes. com/2012/10/24/business/global/cyberattack-onsaudi-oil-firm-disquiets-us.html.

Perlroth, Nicole, and Clifford Krauss. 2018. "A Cyberattack in Saudi Arabia Had a Deadly Goal. Experts Fear Another Try." The New York Times, October 17, 2018, sec. Technology. https://www.nytimes.com/2018/03/15/ technology/saudi-arabia-hacks-cyberattacks.html.

Posen. 1993. "The Security Dilemma and Ethnic Conflict: Survival: Vol 35, No 1." March 3, 1993. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/ abs/10.1080/00396339308442672.

PricewaterhouseCoopers. 2018. "Building Block(Chain) s for a Better Planet." Fourth Industrial Revolution for the Earth Series. https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/ sustainability/assets/blockchain-for-a-better-planet. pdf.

—. n.d. "The Low Carbon Economy Index." PwC. Accessed January 29, 2019b. https://www.pwc.co.uk/ services/sustainability-climate-change/insights/lowcarbon-economy-index.html.

Rabi, Uzi, and Chelsi Mueller. 2018. "The Geopolitics of Sectarianism in the Persian Gulf." Asian Journal of Middle Eastern and Islamic Studies 12 (1): 46–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/25765949.2018.1436129.

Ramchand, Latha, and Ramanan Krishnamoorti. 2017. "What Harvey Taught Us: Lessons From The Energy Industry." Forbes, November 22, 2017. https://www. forbes.com/sites/uhenergy/2017/11/22/what-harveytaught-us-lessons-from-the-energy-industry/.

RankingTheWorld. 2019. Top 10 Most Valuable Companies In The World (1997-2019). https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=8WVoJ6JNLO8.

Rexaline, Shanthi. 2018. "Trading Hurricane Florence: Investors Make Storm Stock Picks," September 11, 2018. https://finance.yahoo.com/news/tradinghurricane-florence-investors-storm-190245552.html.

Sabin Center for Climate Change Law at Columbia Law School, and Arnold & Porter. 2019a. "In Re Greenpeace Southeast Asia and Others." Non-US Climate Change Litigation. 2019. http:// climatecasechart.com/non-us-case/in-re-greenpeacesoutheast-asia-et-al/.

——. 2019b. "Lliuya v. RWE AG." Non-US Climate Change Litigation. 2019. http://climatecasechart. com/non-us-case/lliuya-v-rwe-ag/.

—. 2019c. "Ramirez v. Exxon Mobil Corp." US Climate Change Litigation Database. 2019. http:// climatecasechart.com/case/ramirez-v-exxon-mobilcorp/.

 2019d. "Climate Change Litigation Databases
 Sabin Center for Climate Change Law." Climate Change Litigation. February 6, 2019. http:// climatecasechart.com/.

Saleh, Tawfik Abdo. 2018. Nanotechnology in Oil and Gas Industries. Principles and Applications. Springer International Publishing.

Samuel Fankhauser. 2012. "A Practitioner's Guide to a Low-Carbon Economy: Lessons from the UK." Policy paper. Centre for Climate Change Economics and Policy; Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment. http://www.lse.ac.uk/ GranthamInstitute/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/ PP_low-carbon-economy-UK.pdf.

- Sanchez, Juan I., William P. Korbin, and Diana M. Viscarra. 1995. "Corporate Support in the Aftermath of a Natural Disaster: Effects on Employee Strains." The Academy of Management Journal 38 (2): 504–21. https://doi.org/10.2307/256690.
- Segal, David. 1988. "The Iran-Iraq War: A Military Analysis." Foreign Affairs 66 (5): 946–63. https://doi. org/10.2307/20043572.
- Sharp, Jeremy M. 2018. "Yemen: Civil War and Regional Intervention," August, 26.
- Sick, Gary. 1989. "Trial by Error: Reflections on the Iran-Iraq War." Middle East Journal 43 (2): 230–45.
- Simlinger, Florentina, and Benoit Mayer. 2019. "Legal Responses to Climate Change Induced Loss and Damage." In Loss and Damage from Climate Change: Concepts, Methods and Policy Options, edited by Reinhard Mechler, Laurens M. Bouwer, Thomas Schinko, Swenja Surminski, and JoAnne Linnerooth-Bayer, 179–203. Climate Risk Management, Policy and Governance. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-72026-5_7.
- Sky. 2015. "Rebalancing the Middle East | YaleGlobal Online." April 23, 2015. https://yaleglobal.yale.edu/ content/rebalancing-middle-east.
- S&P Global & MSCI. 2018. "Global Industry Classification Standard." S&P Global & MSCI. https://www.spglobal. com/marketintelligence/en/documents/112727-gicsmapbook_2018_v3_letter_digitalspreads.pdf.
- Symantec. 2018. "Shamoon: Destructive Threat Re-Emerges with New Sting in Its Tail." December 14, 2018. https://www.symantec.com/blogs/threat-intelligence/ shamoon-destructive-threat-re-emerges-new-sting-itstail.
- Thorne, Devin, and Ben Spevack. 2017. "Harbored+Ambitions.Pdf." 2017. https://static1.squarespace.com/ static/566ef8b4d8af107232d5358a/t/5ad5 e20ef950b777a94b55c3/1523966489456/ Harbored+Ambitions.pdf.

- Twin, A. 2019. "6 Factors That Influence Exchange Rates." May 20, 2019. https://www.investopedia.com/ trading/factors-influence-exchange-rates/,.
- UNFCCC. n.d. "The Paris Agreement." United Nations. Accessed January 29, 2019. https://unfccc.int/ process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/the-parisagreement.
- United Nations Environment Programme. 2017. The Status of Climate Change Litigation : A Global Review. https://doi.org/DEL/2110/NA.
- US Navy Task Force for Climate Change. 2014. "US Navy Arctic Roadmap 2014-2030."
- Vivoda, Vlado. 2010. "International Oil Companies, US Government and Energy Security Policy: An Interest-Based Analysis." International Journal of Global Energy Issues 33 (1/2): 73. https://doi.org/10.1504/ IJGEI.2010.033016.
- Wit, Elisa de, and Amy Quinton. 2018. "Climate Change Litigation: Is Your Business Prepared?" August 27, 2018. http://www.nortonrosefulbright.com/ knowledge/publications/169607/climate-changelitigation-is-your-business-prepared.
- Wittes, Tamara Cofman. 2016. "Want to Stabilize the Middle East? Start with Governance." Brookings (blog). November 22, 2016. https://www.brookings.edu/blog/ markaz/2016/11/22/want-to-stabilize-the-middleeast-start-with-governance/.
- World Bank. 2019. "Commodity Commodity Price Data - Annual Crude Oil Prices." Text/HTML. World Bank. August 2019. https://www.worldbank.org/en/ research/commodity-markets.
- World Economic Forum. 2019. "The Global Risks Report 2019 - 14th Edition." http://www3.weforum.org/docs/ WEF_Global_Risks_Report_2019.pdf.
- Wright, Thomas. 2018. "The Return to Great-Power Rivalry Was Inevitable." Brookings (blog). September 12, 2018. https://www.brookings.edu/opinions/the-returnto-great-power-rivalry-was-inevitable/.
- Zetter, Kim. 2011. "How Digital Detectives Deciphered Stuxnet, the Most Menacing Malware in History." Wired, July 11, 2011. https://www.wired. com/2011/07/how-digital-detectives-decipheredstuxnet/.

Scenario Applications: Stress Testing Companies in the Energy Value Chain

50

Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies

Appendix A: Transition to a Low-Carbon Economy

Overview of a Low-Carbon Economy

The concept of a low-carbon economy has arisen in response to contemporary climate change, and the need to limit anthropogenic greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions to mitigate future global warming. ¹²³ The 2015 Paris Agreement was the first universal, legally binding global climate deal between all countries within the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) to combat the climate change and accelerate the actions and investments needed for a sustainable low carbon future.¹²⁴ The Agreement's central aim is to keep a global temperature rise this century well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels.¹²⁵ In October 2018, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) reported on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C and related emissions pathways.¹²⁶ This report states that, in order to limit warming to 1.5° C (with no or low overshoot), CO₂ emissions must decrease by about half from 2010 levels by 2030. While this target is still technically feasible, it requires rapid and far-reaching transitions in energy, land, urban, and industrial systems. Making this monumental shift will require substantial new investments in low-carbon technologies and efficiency.

Figure 14: Decarbonisation Performance of G20 Countries



Source: Chart created by Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies with data from PwC UK.¹²⁷ Note¹²⁸

127 (PricewaterhouseCoopers n.d.)

¹²⁸ G7 consists of the seven largest advanced economies in the world, including Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, the United Kingdom, and the United States. E7 groups together major emerging economies, including China, India, Brazil, Mexico, Russia, Indonesia and Turkey.

An important metric of GHG emissions is carbon intensity (CI), typically defined as the mass of carbon dioxide equivalents emitted per megajoule generated by fossil fuels. In recent years, China, Latin America and UK have led the decarbonisation move, outperforming their Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC) targets defined by the Paris Agreement. See Figure 14. From 2000 to 2017, global CI has declined by 1.6% per year on average - far below the 6.4% annual reduction required to limit warming to below 2°C. This is partly due to the resurgent consumption of coal, driven mostly by Turkey, Indonesia and India.¹²⁹ Countries are resistant towards decarbonisation, concerned that a lowcarbon transition cannot be accomplished without harming economic growth. Contrary to such beliefs, investments in emissions reduction, if managed properly, can generate significant economic returns in excess of a country's cost of capital and create a pecuniary stimulus depending on the proportion of imported fuel in energy consumption.¹³⁰ For instance, countries that are reliant on fossil fuel imports will likely attach high macroeconomic values to energy savings once fossil fuels are delisted, and they need not suffer earlymover disadvantage if they unilaterally choose to lower emissions.

Ingredients of a Low-Carbon Economy

Efficient transition to a low-carbon economy necessitates collaboration between the public and private sectors, to allow adequate regulation whilst incentivising businesses, especially those that are energy-intensive, to take carbon reduction measures. In the "well-to-wheels" lifecycle of transport fuels, 15-40% of GHG emissions come from upstream processes (producing, transporting and refining), where gas flaring (burning) is a major driver. This suggests stringent flaring reduction and minimal fugitive and venting emissions regulation on fuel producers by the public authorities. Meanwhile, enhanced capacity building often includes performance-oriented fuel quality standard programmes, which capitalise on "invisible hands" and promote fuel-agnostic policies that do not stipulate methods to reduce emissions as long as quality mandates are satisfied.¹³¹ This exemplifies an institutional framework that incentivises businesses to cut carbon consumption. Cooperation or partnership between the public and the private side can further go beyond regulatory or legal fields to improving financing and operating environments of clean energy projects. This may include tax breaks or duty waivers to unlock more private investment in low-carbon transition.¹³² All these means of managing and prioritising low-CI sources, whether through regulation or incentives, are based on transparent data sharing between the public and private sectors.

129 (PricewaterhouseCoopers n.d.)

- 130 (Burchardt et al. 2018)
- 131 (Masnadi et al. 2018)
- 132 (Gujba et al. 2012)

New technologies will continue to drive a low-carbon transition, and their accessibility will increase as they become more affordable to the general public. Proven and expanding alternative energy sources include solar, wind, biomass, geothermal, hydro, and nuclear, of which solar energy has seen the greatest surge in global investment; solar represented 38% of total new generating capacity added (renewable, fossil fuel and nuclear) globally in 2016.¹³³ While proven technologies alone can close at least 75% of the gap between current emissions trajectories and the Paris Agreement limits in many countries, additional measures such as synthetic fuels and carbon capture are required to fulfil the remaining 25%.¹³⁴ Apart from power generation, technological innovation in various sectors of society is also driving decarbonisation. A gradual shift into electrified transport has profound implications on household consumption as well as business investment. Furthermore. blockchain opens up new pathways to address environmental challenges. The decentralized electronic ledger system, cryptographically secure and immutable, can unlock businesses' capability to analyse their supply chains and thus optimise sustainable production and logistics. Applied to finance, the technology's wide outreach and high verifiability facilitates decision making, from retail investment in green infrastructure to charitable donations to developing markets, allowing accessible finance to fund a low-carbon transition. Business outsiders including consumers, investors and regulators also benefit from better reporting and monitoring of internal information enabled by blockchain.¹³⁵

Irrespective of enhancing existing capacity or sponsoring new technologies, households and businesses cannot afford such a scalable transition for public good without government assistance in funding. There is increased government spending in support of renewable energies. For instance, government investment accounted for almost half the solar panels installed in China in 2017.¹³⁶ Development of Autonomous-Electric Vehicles (A-EVs) heavily relies on incentives to build charging stations. A low-carbon economy transition is estimated to require \$90 trillion of infrastructure investment globally between 2016 and 2030, and so governments also need to incentivise the banking sector, which functions as the crux of financial intermediation and resource allocation, to join the race.¹³⁷ The sway to cleaner energies in power generation, transport and construction implies waning support for energy-intensive industries such as oil and gas. Countries like China have been transforming their national income structure towards services and technology. Higher education institutions, including the University of Cambridge, face mounting pressure from academic staff and students to dump fossil fuel investments

- 133 (Jäger-Waldau 2017)
- 134 (Burchardt et al. 2018)
- 135 (PricewaterhouseCoopers 2018)
- 136 (PricewaterhouseCoopers n.d.)
- 137 ("Banking in the Low Carbon Economy" n.d.)

in their endowment funds.¹³⁸ Asset managers and oil and gas leaders are unsurprisingly concerned about such a sentiment shift which creates an increasingly uncertain future at the expense of current profit maximisation.

Risk of a Low-Carbon Transition

While a low-carbon transition is widely seen as an opportunity, it also generates a variety of inherent business risks. Still in an emerging state, transition risk can hardly be taxonomised into well-defined risk categories, but it is clear that the transition covers risk sources from regulatory force, technology, production and consumption. Regulatory pressure is increasing from the G20 Task Force on Climaterelated Financial Disclosure (TCFD) that pushes companies to publicly disclose climate-related financial risks in their financial filings. This regulation extends to all companies with listed securities in the G20 countries, including pension plans and asset managers.¹³⁹ The UK government passed a plan in 2017 to put an end to unabated coal power generation by 2025.¹⁴⁰ From a business perspective, failure to react to new regulations poses the risk of heavy fines, reputation damage or even existential threat to affected companies.

Businesses also worry about failure to keep up with development in technology and its applications. At a micro level, competition propels every market player to race in technological advancement and invest in research and development (R&D). A vicious cycle exists once a business fails in any step. For example, the rising trend of electric vehicles and battery design, combined with declining costs of renewable energies, requires businesses to offer greener products at competitive prices. If R&D money is spent but product launch turns out a failure, companies will not recover its costs, let alone be compensated by revenues, which triggers reduced subsequent investments in R&D that is essential for technological improvement in the first place.

In production function, businesses face risks in both capital and labour, especially those in the energy sector. The concept of stranded fossil fuel assets (SFFA) comes under focus not only because high-CI assets can be forcibly abandoned as climate policy limits production below potential capacity, but also due to the natural progression of renewable technology which renders them unnecessary. Equity markets are suspected not to have taken SFFA into pricing, generating a possible "carbon bubble" since oil and gas stocks may be overvalued. Companies tend to be upset about potential consequences of SFFA, including ensuing financial reporting regulation, that might stipulate them to write down obsolete assets off their balance sheet in a lump sum. The global financial loss from SFFA could reach \$12 trillion if commitments to current, controversial energy policies continue but are challenged by strict measures to achieve

the Paris targets in the near future.¹⁴¹ This value excludes any disruptive impact on corporate assets from increasingly frequent and severe natural catastrophes, which will only exacerbate losses. In addition to loss of capital, a low-carbon transition brings about job destruction and creation. The transition in the UK is estimated to result in the loss of 28,000 jobs in carbon-intensive sectors, but add 46,000 green jobs to the north of England in the next 12 years, where 48% of the country's renewable electricity was produced from 2005 to 2014.¹⁴² This will present a risk to businesses if there is lack of suitable talent to fill vacancies, or if workers are not retrained but left without the skills and qualifications required for new green jobs.

The prospects of the consumption market remain unpredictable. While fossil fuel prices are expected to decline in the long-term as demand is reduced, an interim peak in price – due to supply surplus by oligopoly power and carbon tax levied on fuel users – may translate into pressure on corporate income statements.¹⁴³ The substitution of high-CI and expensive energies will take time to manifest as utilities are fundamental to and ingrained in various aspects of life. Uncertainty surrounding consumer acceptance and uptake of new technologies, such as in power generation, transport, and building, is also a risk for low-carbon businesses. Therefore, companies must adapt to evolving consumer behaviours in timely fashion.¹⁴⁴ Failure to do so may have lasting implications in a rapidly changing low-carbon transition.

Executives in large oil and gas companies have valid reasons to believe that risks embedded in the low-carbon transition are critical. Shareholders and other stakeholders are waking up to the risks and opportunities presented by the transition to a low-carbon economy, which henceforth require better disclosure. The Climate Action 100+ is an investor-driven initiative enacted to ensure that the world's 100 largest systemically important GHG emitting companies, and more than 60 others, engage in environmentally responsible practices that drive the transition.¹⁴⁵ It is very likely that risk management concerning the low-carbon economy transition will top managers' agendas in the coming years.

^{138 (}Mooney 2018)

^{139 (}PricewaterhouseCoopers n.d.)

^{140 (}Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 2018)

^{141 (}Mercure et al. 2018)

^{142 (}Halliday 2018)

^{143 (&}quot;Carbon Tax Center – Pricing Carbon Efficiently and Equitably" n.d.)

^{144 (}Samuel Fankhauser 2012)

^{145 (&}quot;Climate Action 100+" n.d.)

Appendix B: Science in Scenarios -Geopolitical Crisis: Middle East Conflict

Business Risk Overview

International conflicts are highly disruptive to trade and economic activity. The threat of war in the Middle East threatens strategic energy supplies and vital trade routes between Europe, Asia, and North America, as well as the consequences of a major regional conflict, such as economic disruption, inflation, increased national debt, and market turbulence.

Scenario Narrative

Tensions escalate between a US-led alliance, and Iranian – inspired insurgent forces throughout the Middle East. Iran is pressured on its nuclear programme, and its threats to Israel. Conflict breaks out and quickly escalates to multiple flashpoints throughout the Middle East, including oil production fields, shipping routes, and key commercial and military facilities. Oil output is reduced, resulting in global energy price hikes. Shipping traffic through the Straits of Hormuz and the Suez Canal is significantly reduced.

Timeline



Metrics of Severity

The magnitude of conflict scale and the severity of the increase in global oil price, WTI spot price per barrel.

Scenario Severity Levels

L	Variant Desc	Peak Oil Price WTI	Duration	Chance
L1	Saudi Arabia-Iran War	\$150	6 Months	Significant Chance
L2	US Coalition Invasion	\$200	1 Year	Moderate Chance
L3	Multi-State Conflict	\$250	2 Years	Highly Unlikely
L4	Regional Conflagration	\$300	5 Years	Remotely Possible

Likelihood Trend:

Geography



Geopolitical: Interstate Conflict Scenario GS-IC-CZ:001-1



How the Scenario Impacts Your Business

Companies see sudden cost escalation in energy prices, transportation costs, and most costs of goods and raw materials. Goods shipped from Asia to Europe take longer and cost more. Products sourced from the Middle East become unobtainable, or have more expensive substitutes. Markets see increased volatility. Inflation increases. Middle East becomes a no-go zone for employee travel.

Threat Analysis



Precedent Evidence Base

Conflicts in the Middle East have shocked the price of energy several times over the past half-century, from the 1970s Arab embargo following the Yom Kippur war, to each of the Gulf Wars. Energy prices are particularly susceptible to geopolitical events and to global changes in demand and supply. The historical rate of conflicts in Middle East affecting oil price suggests an annual likelihood of around 1 in 10. The threat is increasing with US threats against Iran.

Further Information

- Middle East Conflict Scenario Presentation
- China-Japan Geopolitical Conflict Stress Test Scenario

Scenario Type: Global Macroeconomic

54

Increasing 📥

Scenario Applications: Stress Testing Companies in the Energy Value Chain

Cambridge Centre for Risk Studies

Cambridge Judge Business School

University of Cambridge Trumpington Street Cambridge CB2 1AG

T: +44 (0) 1223 768386 F: +44 (0) 1223 339701 enquiries.risk@jbs.cam.ac.uk www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/faculty-research/centres/risk/publications/

Follow us on LinkedIn and Twitter @Risk_Cambridge

Institute of Risk Management

2nd Floor, Sackville House 143 - 149 Fenchurch Street London, EC3M 6BN

T: +44 (0)20 7709 9808 F: +44 (0)20 7709 0716 W: www.theirm.org

Follow us: @IRMglobal